
Meeting of:  Health, Schools and Care Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

Date: Thursday 27th July 2017
Time: 6.15 pm.
Venue: Hollingworth C, First Floor, Training & 

Conference Suite, Number One Riverside, 
Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU

This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by
Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.

Item 
No.

AGENDA Page No

1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

To receive any apologies for absence. 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, 
personal or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the 
nature of those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or 
indicate if S106 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies 
to them.    

3.  URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS 

To determine whether there are any additional items of business 
which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should 
be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency. 

4.  ITEMS FOR EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS 

To determine any items on the agenda, if any, where the public are 
to be excluded from the meeting. 

5.  MINUTES 4 - 7

To consider the minutes of the meeting of the Health, School and 
Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee held 22nd June 2017. 

6.  SCHOOL ADMISSIONS AND THE ALLOCATION OF SCHOOL 
PLACES 2017 

8 - 31

The Committee are asked to scrutinise the school admissions and 

Public Document Pack



allocations process 2017. 

7.  LINK4LIFE ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REVIEW 2016/17 32 - 52

The Committee to scrutinise a report reviewing the performance of 
Link4Life during the last six months and against their agreed targets 

8.  HEALTHWATCH ROCHDALE - ANNUAL REPORT 2016/17 53 - 76

To consider Annual Report for Rochdale HealthWatch’s Annual 
Report for 2016/17 

9.  4TH QUARTER SOCIAL CARE COMPLAINTS 77 - 92

The Committee are asked to scrutinise the social care complaints 
received during the 4th quarter of 2016/17 

10.  OBESITY ACTION GROUP 93 - 125

To note the minutes of the meeting held 15th March 2017 and the 
Action Plan appended thereto (deferred from the last meeting of the 
Committee)  

11.  HEALTH, SCHOOLS AND CARE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE -  WORK PROGRAMME 2017/18 

To consider the Committee’s Work Programme 2017/18 (to be 
circulated) 

12.  JOINT HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE FOR 
PENNINE ACUTE HOSPITALS NHS TRUST 

126 - 131

To consider the minutes of the meeting of the Joint Health Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee for Pennine Acute Hospitals NHS Trust, 
held 28th February 2017. 

13.  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

To consider that the press and public be excluded from the 
remaining part of the meeting pursuant to Section 100(A) 4 of the 
Local Government Act 1972 on the grounds that discussions may 
involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the 
provisions of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 
1972 and public interest would not be served in publishing the 
information.  



14.  ACT AND SUNRISE 132 - 246

The Director of Children’s Services to deliver a presentation on the 
work of the Sunrise Team and the Achieving Change Together (ACT) 
programme  

Members of Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee: 

Councillor Ali Ahmed Councillor Sultan Ali
Councillor Cecile Biant Councillor John Blundell
Councillor Ray Dutton Councillor James Gartside
Councillor Shaun O'Neill Councillor Sara Rowbotham
Councillor Susan Smith Councillor Patricia Sullivan
Councillor Donna Williams

For more information about this meeting, please contact 
Peter Thompson
Senior Governance and Committee Services Officer
01706 924715
Peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk 

mailto:Peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk


HEALTH, SCHOOLS AND CARE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF MEETING
Thursday, 22nd June 2017

PRESENT:  Councillor Rowbotham (in the Chair); Councillors Ali Ahmed, 
Sultan Ali, Cecile Biant, Blundell, Dutton, Gartside, O’Neill, Smith and Sullivan 

OFFICERS:   D. David (Assistant Director - Adult Care (Commissioning)), 
P. Wharton (Children’s Directorate) and P. Thompson (Resources Directorate)

IN ATTENDANCE: one member of the public

APOLOGIES
1 Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Donna Williams.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
2 In accordance to the Council’s Code of Conduct, Councillor Sultan Ali 
declared a personal interest in agenda item 8 (Springhill Hospice Quality 
Account 2016/17) insofar as a he was a Trustee at Springhill Hospice.

MINUTES
3 DECIDED – That the minutes of the meeting of the Health, Schools 
and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee, held 13th April 2017, be 
approved as a correct record.

HEALTH SCHOOLS AND CARE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
- WORK PROGRAMME 2017/18
4 The Committee considered a report of the Assistant Director (Legal, 
Governance and Workforce) that presented the Committee’s Work 
Programme 2016/17.

The Committee asked that consideration be giving to scheduling some of the 
issues below into the Committee’s Work Programme: 
 

a. Young People’s mental health – the Chair reported that she was to 
meet with Councillor Smith to initially scope out this matter, with a view 
to a Members Study Group being undertaken.

b. Drugs and alcohol services (generally) – the Chair undertook to meet 
with the Director of Public Health to expedite this matter.

c. Provision of sexual health services (since the provision of service has 
been taken up by a new provider) – the Chair advised that some 
background information on this matter had been circulated to Members 
of the Committee and further information in respect of ‘Whistleblowing’ 
policies and Key Performance indicators was still sought.  

d. Obesity levels especially in children – the Chair advised that a working 
party existed within the Council that was looking into initiatives to tackle 
obesity levels across the Borough. Meetings of the Group were 

Page 4

Agenda Item 5



attended by the Portfolio Holder for Health and Wellbeing and there 
was scope, if required, for the representation of elected members to be 
extended. Minutes of meetings of the Working Group would be 
presented to future meetings of the Committee. 

e. Diabetes (levels of support available, accessibility of that support) – the 
Committee was advised about the levels of support for people that 
were either suffering from diabetes or were at risk of doing so. The 
Committee were advised that this matter was particularly pressing as 
the AGE Concern shop that was based in Rochdale town centre had 
now closed. The Chair undertook to pursue this matter with Councillor 
Robinson and suggested that a way forward was for the Committee’s 
Members to have an informal one-off meeting to enable Members to 
discuss this matter in greater detail.    

f. Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (insofar as it impacts on 
skills/educational opportunities – the Chair advised that representatives 
of the Borough’s colleges (including Councillors who were on the 
college’s governing bodies) be invited to a future meeting of the 
Committee to discuss this further.

g. Coroner’s Service – the Chair advised that the Coroner had now 
commenced her duties after which arrangements would be made for 
Committee Members to visit the new Coroner on-site including 
discussions about how the service deals with various cultural/religious 
sensitivities around deaths, especially in the Islamic faith.

h. Report on bereavement services (or maybe a one-off session) – the 
Chair advised that this was to be determined.

i. Visit to Pennine Care Foundation Trust and to the Pennine Acute Trust 
facilities 

DECIDED – That (1) the report be noted;
(2) the Clerk to the Committee, in consultation with the Chair and 

Vice Chair of the Committee monitor the progress of the actions (a – i) 
above and update the Committee at the next meeting.

MARKET OVERSIGHT REPORT
5 The Committee considered a report of the Assistant Director - Adult 
Care (Commissioning) regarding the Market Oversight Plan which provided 
quality assurance information for services commissioned by Adult Care 
services for the fourth quarter of 2016/17 (January – March).

The Committee were advised that the Adult Care Directorate commissions 
external provider services to deliver a range of Care services to adults with 
eligible social care needs. The Adult Care Commissioning Team assures the 
quality of these services and the Care Quality Commission (CQC) also 
regulates some of the services. 

The Committee noted that the Adult Care Service was currently on-track with 
all of its current reviews. A Member referred to various Nursing Homes which 
were detailed in the report that were described as being in special measures. 
Members were advised that the Council expected assurances within an 8 - 12 
week period that appropriate improvements to service were being made 

Page 5



otherwise appropriate action would be taken. Members of the Committee also 
sought information as to the process for closing homes and how long a period 
a poorly performing home was allowed to stay open. The Committee also 
sought definitions and the methodology for how complaints were rated and 
validated. 

DECIDED – That (1) the report be noted;
(2) the Assistant Director - Adult Care (Commissioning) be 

requested to provide members of the Committee a presentation at an 
informal session of the Committee’s membership on how complaints, 
relating to the provision of Adult Care Services  were rated and 
validated. 

BETTER CARE FUND 2016/17 NATIONAL INDICATOR PERFORMANCE 
UPDATE
6 DECIDED – That consideration of this matter be deferred to an 
informal meeting of the Committee’s membership, at a date to be 
determined.

DIRECTORATE PLANS 2016-17 QUARTER 4 UPDATE
7 The Committee scrutinised a report of the Director of Neighbourhoods 
regarding the position at the end of Quarter 4 (31st March 2017) of the 
activities contained in the Adult Care Services Directorate Plan 2016/17, the 
Children’s Services Directorate Plan 2016/17 and the Public Health and 
Wellbeing Plan 2016/17.

In terms of Children’s Services the Committee sought clarification on action 
point CS011 (Children with SEND) and the Director of Children’s Services 
commented on the recent SEND (Special Educational Needs and Disabilities) 
inspection, carried out by the CQC (in respect of the authority’s SEND) which 
required some further work on the Council’s behalf. Members, in considering 
this, requested that a report be submitted to a future meeting thereon.

The Committee also commented upon action point CS013, relating to the 
impact of the Council’s CAMHS Transformation Plan on mental health of 
children and young people.

DECIDED – That (1) the report be noted;
(2) the Director of Children’s Services be requested to submit 

further information to Members of the Committee relating to the impact 
of the Council’s CAMHS Transformation Plan on mental health of 
children and young people;

(3)  the Director of Children’s Services be requested to submit a 
report to a future meeting of the Committee relating to the waiting times 
for assessments in respect of SEND assessments.

SPRINGHILL HOSPICE QUALITY ACCOUNT 2016/17
8 DECIDED – That the Springhill Hospice Quality Account 2016/17 
be noted. 

Page 6



OBESITY ACTION GROUP
9 The Committee considered the minutes of the meeting of the Obesity 
Action group held 15th March 2017. In considering the report and the 
appendices attached thereto the Committee asked if they could have sight of 
the letters that notified parents about their child’s perceived obesity, 
requesting information about who determines what information is put in these 
letters and can an example of such a letter be forwarded to members, for 
information? The Committee asked for information about what constituted the 
underlying reasons for greater prevalence of obesity in children from BME 
groups; if there any way of mapping obesity in the Borough; members 
expressed concern at the terminology in the report. The Committee also 
asked if the terms of reference, of the Obesity Action Group could be 
submitted to the Committee for information and also requested to know how 
the information was disseminated to schools.

DECIDED – That this item be further considered at the Committee’s next 
meeting and the Director of Public Health be requested to attend that 
meeting to discuss the issues raised with members of the Committee.

GMCA/AGMA SCRUTINY POOL
10 DECIDED – That the minutes of the meeting of the GMCA/AGMA 
Scrutiny Pool held 7th April 2017 be noted.

Page 7



Agenda Item  
 

Report to Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 Date of Meeting 27 July 2017 

Portfolio Children’s Services 

Report Author Janet Entwistle 

Public/Private Document Public 

 

School Admissions and the allocation of School Places 2017 
 

Executive Summary 
1. This report presents information on the School Admissions arrangements and 

allocation for 2017 to the Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. This includes the Annual report to the School Adjudicator. 
 

Recommendation 
2. That the report is considered and a view on its content is formed for 

submission to Cabinet. 

Reason for Recommendation 
3. Rochdale Local Authority has a statutory duty to ensure there are enough 

school places for children in its` area who want them; to make arrangements 
for parents to apply for school places and to ensure every parent in the 
borough received the offer of a school place. The Council exercises this duty 
by planning for enough school places and by setting out clear arrangements 
for the allocation. 
 
In setting admission criteria and the co-ordinated admission arrangements, all 
admission authorities must comply with the School Admissions Code 2014 
and School Admission Appeals Code. The current Admission Arrangements 
for Rochdale Borough for September 2017 are published on the Council 
website. The closing date for Year 7 admissions to secondary school was 31st 
October 2016, and the closing date for Reception admissions to primary 
schools was 15th January 2017. 
 
For admission to any school in September for Reception classes and Year 7, 
parents must apply through the local authority where they live, even if the 
school is in another area.  
 
The Local Authority has the responsibility for co-ordinating admissions 
between other local authorities and own admission authorities in its area. 
 
 

Page 8

Agenda Item 6



For In year admissions and transfers the local authority is not required to co-
ordinate these with own admission authority schools. In Rochdale Borough, by 
agreement, the Authority does co-ordinate within year admission for 
secondary schools but not primary schools. 
 
Cabinet need to kept informed of the current position so that future decisions 
are informed decisions. 

Key Points for Consideration 

4. 
 
4.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Allocation of School Places 
 
The table below summarises at Borough level the number of first preferences 
received and places offered on the national offer day for secondary schools in 
the Borough. There are currently 2780 Year 7 places in Rochdale Borough 
Secondary schools. It shows that on 1st March 2017, 2475 children applied for 
school places and of these 2375 (95.96%) were allocated their first preference 
school; 42 parents were not allocated any of their preferred schools and there 
were 236 vacancies remaining after all the on time applications were 
processed. 229 Rochdale Borough resident parents were offered places at 
schools outside the Borough, compared to 205 in 2016.  
 
Details at school level are attached as Appendix A. 
 
Secondary Applications and Offers: Borough Summary: 

 
 
 
 

Pl
ac

es
 a

va
ila

bl
e 

Preferences received Preferences Offered 

1st 2nd 3rd 4th 

O
th

er
 

1st 2nd 3rd 4th  

O
th

er
 

Rochdale 1265 1012 509 309 85 2 995 54 14 5 0 

Heywood 360 307 136 67 18 0 294 9 1 1 0 

Middleton 645 624 244 140 26 2 504 19 5 0 1 

Pennines 510 532 280 134 39 4 482 23 3 2 0 

Total 
(Borough) 2780 2475 1159 650 168 8 2375 105 23 8 1 

 
95.96% were offered their first preference school 
42 were nominated a school place 
236 places were remaining after on-time applications were processed. 
 

  

Page 9



4.2 The table below summarises at Borough level the number of first preferences 
received and places offered on the national offer day for primary schools in the 
Borough. There are 3119 Reception places in Rochdale Borough Primary 
schools.  It shows that on 16th April 2017, 2912 children applied for school 
places and of these 2594 (89.08%) were allocated their first preference school; 
108 were not allocated any of their preferred schools and there were 184 
vacancies remaining after all the on-time applications were processed.   59 
Rochdale Borough resident parents were offered places at schools outside the 
Borough, compared to 36 in 2016.  
 
Details at school level are attached as Appendix B. 
 
Primary Applications and Offers: Borough Summary: 

 
 

Pl
ac

es
 a

va
ila

bl
e 

Preferences received Preferences Offered 

1st 2nd 3rd 
O

th
er

 

1st 2nd 3rd 

N
om

in
at

ed
 

Rochdale 1447 1359 733 505 0 1199 79 22 57 

Heywood 415 388 219 161 0 327 25 13 20 

Middleton 657 604 283 165 6 574 17 5 9 

Pennines 600 561 333 218 2 494 39 16 22 

Total 
(Borough) 3119 2912 1568 1049 8 2594 160 56 108 

 
89.08% were offered  their first preference 
108 were nominated a place 
184 places were remaining after on-time applications were processed. 
 

Late Applications & Changes Of Allocation Requests 
 

 Late applications and change of allocation requests result in additional children 
being admitted to schools. Already this year 114 additional secondary places 
and 105 primary places have been offered to children who submitted a late 
application. 
 

5. ANNUAL REPORT TO THE SCHOOLS ADJUDICATOR 
 
Each year Local Authorities are required to submit a report on school 
admissions, appeals and Fair Access to the Office of the Schools Adjudicator 
(OSA) and to publish that report on the Council’s website. A copy of the OSA 
report for 2017 is attached as Appendix C. 

Page 10



Costs and Budget Summary 

6. The costs associated with co-ordinating admission arrangements are met from 
the Dedicated Schools Grant. 
 
The costs for refurbishment or new build accommodation at schools which are    
providing additional pupil places is funded by the EFA annual allocations of 
Basic Need capital budget.  Where applicable, schools offering additional pupil 
places to meet the LA’s statutory need, may also be eligible for revenue 
funding from the Council’s Growth Fund, which is approved by Schools Forum. 

Risk and Policy Implications 

7. The application of good admission arrangements contributes to the Council 
Business Plan in ensuring an effective allocation process for school admissions. 
 
There are no other known implications from this particular report i.e. Personnel, 
Equalities or Financial. 

Background Papers Place of Inspection 
School Admissions Code 2014 
School Admission Appeals Code 2012 
 
Rochdale Borough Council School 
Admissions Arrangements 

DfE Website 
DfE Website 
 
Rochdale Council Website: School 
Admissions Page 

For Further Information Contact: 
Janet Entwistle 

janet.entwistle@rochdale.gov.uk 
Tel: 01706 925314 

 

Page 11

mailto:janet.entwistle@rochdale.gov.uk


FIRST
PREFERENCE

SECOND
PREFERENCE

THIRD
PREFERENCE

FOURTH
PREFERENCE

OTHER
PREFERENCE

TOTAL
PREFERENCES

FIRST
PREFERENCE

SECOND
PREFERENCE

THIRD
PREFERENCE

FOURTH
PREFERENCE

OTHER
PREFERENCE

Cardinal Langley RC High School 225 216 95 37 11 0 359 215 8 0 2 0 0 225 0 99.54

Falinge Park High School 270 276 97 76 17 0 466 259 8 3 0 0 0 270 0 93.84

Hollingworth Academy 270 307 195 79 20 0 601 260 8 1 1 0 0 270 0 84.69

Holy Family RC and CE College 150 161 71 29 4 0 265 148 1 1 0 0 0 150 0 91.93

Kingsway Park High School 270 200 101 68 17 1 387 200 7 2 0 0 12 221 49 100.00

Matthew Moss High School 185 100 78 44 16 0 238 100 2 0 1 0 6 109 76 100.00

Middleton Technology School 270 274 92 71 8 2 447 255 11 3 0 1 0 270 0 93.07

Oulder Hill Community School 
and Language College

300 252 148 69 24 0 493 252 30 6 2 0 10 300 0 100.00

Siddal Moor Sports College 210 146 65 38 14 0 263 146 8 0 1 0 11 166 44 100.00

St Anne's Church of England Academy 160 134 57 32 7 0 230 134 0 2 0 0 1 137 23 100.00

St Cuthbert's RC High School 240 184 75 52 11 1 323 184 7 3 0 0 2 196 44 100.00

Wardle Academy 240 225 85 55 19 4 388 222 15 2 1 0 0 240 0 98.67

TOTALS 2790 2475 1159 650 168 8 4460 2375 105 23 8 1 42 2554 236 95.96

APPENDIX A: Transfer to Secondary School - September 2017: Preference demand met for Rochdale Schools

The information provided in this table details the number of applications received for places and how many places were allocated at Secondary Schools in Rochdale for September 2017.  The information is accurate as at the national offer date of 01/03/2017 and does not include details of 
applications received after the closing date of 31/10/2016.

SCHOOL NAME

NUMBER OF OFFERS MADE

PU
BL

IS
H

ED
AD

M
IS

SI
O

N
N

UM
BE

R % OF FIRST
PREFERENCES

OFFERED

NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS RECEIVED NUMBER OF 
PLACES 

NOMINATED

TOTAL
 NUMBER OF 

PLACES
OFFERED

REMAINING
 VACANCIES

P
age 12



FIRST
PREFERENCE

SECOND
PREFERENCE

THIRD
PREFERENCE

OTHER
PREFERENCE

TOTAL
PREFERENCES

FIRST
PREFERENCE

SECOND
PREFERENCE

THIRD
PREFERENCE

OTHER
PREFERENCE

Alice Ingham RC Primary School 24 15 1 6 0 22 15 0 3 0 6 24 0 100.00
Alkrington Primary School 60 54 24 20 0 98 54 1 2 0 1 58 2 100.00
All Saints CE Primary School 30 39 30 19 0 88 26 3 1 0 0 30 0 66.67
All Souls CE Primary School 30 43 46 24 0 113 30 0 0 0 0 30 0 69.77
Ashfield Valley Primary School 30 30 13 14 0 57 29 1 0 0 0 30 0 96.67
Bamford Academy 45 34 23 23 0 80 34 4 0 0 0 38 7 100.00
Belfield Community School 45 53 26 13 0 92 42 1 2 0 0 45 0 79.25
Boarshaw Community Primary School 30 25 6 8 0 39 25 0 0 0 0 25 5 100.00
Bowlee Park Community Primary School 120 90 22 14 1 127 90 3 0 0 3 96 24 100.00
Brimrod Community Primary School 30 19 19 5 0 43 19 2 0 0 9 30 0 100.00
Broadfield Community Primary School 60 38 12 9 0 59 38 2 0 0 15 55 5 100.00
Caldershaw Primary School 30 56 75 30 0 161 29 1 0 0 0 30 0 51.79
Castleton Primary School 30 19 18 14 0 51 19 2 1 0 2 24 6 100.00
Crossgates Primary School 45 52 31 15 0 98 42 2 1 0 0 45 0 80.77
Deeplish Primary Academy 60 49 12 14 0 75 49 4 1 0 6 60 0 100.00
Elm Wood Primary School 60 61 18 9 1 89 59 1 0 0 0 60 0 96.72
Greenbank Primary School 60 34 23 20 0 77 34 3 1 0 6 44 16 100.00
Hamer Community Primary School 45 43 38 13 0 94 40 5 0 0 0 45 0 93.02
Harwood Park Primary School 60 23 10 5 0 38 23 0 0 0 10 33 27 100.00
Healey Primary School 30 35 28 18 0 81 26 2 2 0 0 30 0 74.29
Heap Bridge Village Primary School 25 38 19 12 0 69 25 0 0 0 0 25 0 65.79
Heybrook Primary School 90 66 22 21 0 109 66 3 0 0 10 79 11 100.00
Hollin Primary School 30 31 13 11 0 55 29 1 0 0 0 30 0 93.55
Holy Family RC Primary School 30 41 19 4 0 64 30 0 0 0 0 30 0 73.17
Holy Trinity CE Primary School 30 45 46 20 0 111 30 0 0 0 0 30 0 66.67
Hopwood Community Primary School 60 71 35 33 0 139 56 3 1 0 0 60 0 78.87
Kentmere Primary Academy 45 41 8 9 0 58 41 1 1 0 2 45 0 100.00
Little Heaton C of E Primary School 30 14 4 3 1 22 14 1 0 0 2 17 13 100.00
Littleborough Community Primary School 60 55 13 15 0 83 53 5 2 0 0 60 0 96.36
Lowerplace Primary School 60 74 49 27 0 150 59 1 0 0 0 60 0 79.73
Marland Hill Community Primary School 60 69 26 16 0 111 59 1 0 0 0 60 0 85.51
Meanwood Community Primary School 60 40 20 13 0 73 40 10 0 0 0 50 10 100.00
Middleton Parish Church School 60 52 28 12 0 92 52 2 0 0 3 57 3 100.00
Milnrow Parish CE Primary School 30 17 22 13 0 52 17 5 3 0 2 27 3 100.00
Moorhouse Primary School 60 24 10 7 1 42 24 3 0 0 12 39 21 100.00
Newhey Community Primary School 40 54 25 15 0 94 38 2 0 0 0 40 0 70.37
Norden Community Primary School 60 44 35 56 0 135 44 6 4 0 0 54 6 100.00
Our Lady and St Paul’s RC Primary School 30 28 18 4 0 50 25 5 0 0 0 30 0 89.29

APPENDIX B: Admission to Primary School - September 2017: Preference demand met for Rochdale Schools
The information provided in this table details the number of applications received for places and how many places were allocated at Primary Schools in Rochdale for September 2017.  The information is accurate as at the national offer date of 18/04/2017 and does not 

include details of applications received after the closing date of 15/01/2017.

SCHOOL NAME

NUMBER OF OFFERS MADE

PUBLISHED
ADMISSION

NUMBER

% OF FIRST
PREFERENCES

OFFERED

NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS RECEIVED

NUMBER OF 
PLACES 

NOMINATED

TOTAL
 NUMBER OF 

PLACES
OFFERED

REMAINING
 VACANCIES

P
age 13



FIRST
PREFERENCE

SECOND
PREFERENCE

THIRD
PREFERENCE

OTHER
PREFERENCE

TOTAL
PREFERENCES

FIRST
PREFERENCE

SECOND
PREFERENCE

THIRD
PREFERENCE

OTHER
PREFERENCE

APPENDIX B: Admission to Primary School - September 2017: Preference demand met for Rochdale Schools
The information provided in this table details the number of applications received for places and how many places were allocated at Primary Schools in Rochdale for September 2017.  The information is accurate as at the national offer date of 18/04/2017 and does not 

include details of applications received after the closing date of 15/01/2017.

SCHOOL NAME

NUMBER OF OFFERS MADE

PUBLISHED
ADMISSION

NUMBER

% OF FIRST
PREFERENCES

OFFERED

NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS RECEIVED

NUMBER OF 
PLACES 

NOMINATED

TOTAL
 NUMBER OF 

PLACES
OFFERED

REMAINING
 VACANCIES

Parkfield Primary School 30 25 22 9 0 56 25 0 0 0 0 25 5 100.00
Sacred Heart RC Primary School 30 44 29 17 0 90 26 3 1 0 0 30 0 59.09
Sandbrook Community Primary School 90 91 24 14 0 129 84 5 1 0 0 90 0 92.31
Shawclough Community Primary School 60 40 21 13 0 74 40 7 2 0 2 51 9 100.00
Smithy Bridge Foundation Primary School 60 50 42 38 1 131 47 8 5 0 0 60 0 94.00
Spotland Primary School 60 52 8 4 0 64 52 1 0 0 3 56 4 100.00
St Andrew’s CE Primary School 60 66 32 19 0 117 58 2 0 0 0 60 0 87.88
St Edward’s CE Primary School 52 47 23 2 0 72 47 2 0 0 1 50 2 100.00
St Gabriel’s CE Primary School 30 27 12 7 0 46 26 2 2 0 0 30 0 96.30
St Gabriel’s RC Primary School 30 21 11 11 0 43 21 0 0 0 0 21 9 100.00
St James’ CE Primary School 30 27 11 17 0 55 27 3 0 0 0 30 0 100.00
St John Fisher RC Primary School 30 31 21 14 1 67 28 1 1 0 0 30 0 90.32
St John’s CE Primary School Thornham 12 15 8 3 0 26 12 0 0 0 0 12 0 80.00
St John’s RC Primary School 30 23 8 4 0 35 23 2 2 0 3 30 0 100.00
St Joseph’s RC Primary School 60 52 18 17 0 87 52 2 2 0 1 57 3 100.00
St Luke’s CE Primary School 60 48 41 36 0 125 44 9 7 0 0 60 0 91.67
St Margaret’s CE Primary School 30 39 16 19 0 74 26 2 2 0 0 30 0 66.67
St Mary’s CE Primary School 30 30 17 16 0 63 29 0 1 0 0 30 0 96.67
St Mary’s RC Primary School Littleborough 30 38 29 16 0 83 30 0 0 0 0 30 0 78.95
St Mary’s RC Primary School Middleton 60 58 22 9 0 89 58 2 0 0 0 60 0 100.00
St Michael’s CE Primary School Bamford 30 37 35 32 0 104 29 1 0 0 0 30 0 78.38
St Michael’s CE Primary School Middleton 30 30 15 11 1 57 29 1 0 0 0 30 0 96.67
St Patrick’s RC Primary School 45 62 32 14 0 108 43 2 0 0 0 45 0 69.35
St Peter’s CE Primary School 60 68 19 10 0 97 58 0 2 0 0 60 0 85.29
St Peter’s RC Primary School 30 39 38 17 0 94 30 0 0 0 0 30 0 76.92
St Thomas More RC Primary School 45 52 30 18 1 101 43 2 0 0 0 45 0 82.69
St Thomas’ CE Primary School 21 13 18 8 0 39 13 2 1 0 0 16 5 100.00
St Vincent’s RC Primary School 60 52 21 17 0 90 52 3 1 0 0 56 4 100.00
Stansfield Hall CE Primary School 20 21 7 7 0 35 19 1 0 0 0 20 0 90.48
Whittaker Moss Primary School 60 52 35 35 0 122 52 7 0 0 0 59 1 100.00
Woodland Community Primary School 60 46 16 11 0 73 46 4 1 0 9 60 0 100.00
TOTALS 3119 2912 1568 1049 8 5537 2594 160 56 0 108 2918 201 89.08

P
age 14



APPENDIX C: Local Authority Report to the Office of 
the Schools Adjudicator 

Page 15



1 of 16 

 
 

LOCAL AUTHORITY REPORT 
 

TO 
 

THE SCHOOLS ADJUDICATOR 
 

FROM 
 
 

Rochdale Local Authority 
 
 
 

30/06/2017 
 
 
 
Report Cleared by: Gail Hopper 
                                 

   Director of Children`s Services 
 
 
Date submitted: 5th July 2017 
 
 
By (Name): Janet Entwistle 
 
      
 
 
Contact email address: janet.entwistle@rochdale.gov.uk 
 
Telephone number: 01706 925314 
 
 
www.gov.uk/government/organisations/office-of-the-schools-adjudicator 
 
 
Please email your completed report to: osa.team@osa.gsi.gov.uk 
 
 

Page 16

http://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/office-of-the-schools-adjudicator
mailto:osa.team@osa.gsi.gov.uk


2 of 16 

Introduction 
 
1. Section 88P of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 requires 
Local Authorities to make an annual report to the adjudicator. 
 
2. The School Admissions Code (the Code) at paragraph 6 sets out the 
requirements for reports by local authorities.  Paragraph 3.23 specifies what 
must be included as a minimum in the report to the adjudicator and makes 
provision for the local authority to include any other local issues. 
 
3. There are other matters concerning admissions, some suggested by 
local authorities themselves, about which it would be useful to have a view.  
Rather than undertake a separate exercise in which information is sought from 
local authorities, you are asked to include any relevant information in your 
report to the adjudicator.    
 
Completing the Template 
 
This template is designed to be completed electronically - boxes will 
expand as necessary.  Please note that we will contact you if any data 
boxes have not been completed.  However if there are any blank 
comment boxes we will presume that you have no comments to make.   
 
Throughout this report, please include middle deemed primary schools 
as for pupils up to age 11 and middle deemed secondary schools as for 
pupils over 11.  For schools that have children of primary and secondary 
age and are not designated as a middle school please record them as all-
through schools. 
 
Where a type of school is given, foundation covers foundation schools 
and foundation schools with a foundation (trust schools).  Academy 
schools should be recorded by the individual type of academy school, 
namely, academy, free school, UTC or studio school. 
 
1. Local Authority school numbers 
 
Please give the total number of schools by type within your local authority as at 
30 June 2017. 
 

Type of School 
Number of 
Schools for 
pupils up to 

age 11 

Number of 
Schools for 
pupils over 

age 11 

Number of all- 
through 
schools 

Community 30 5  
Voluntary Controlled 9   
Voluntary Aided 23 3  
Foundation 4 1  
Academy 3 3  
Free School 0   
UTC    
Studio School    

Page 17



3 of 16 

 
2. Admission Arrangements for Admissions in September 

2017 
 
The Code at paragraph 3.23 requires that each local authority provides 
“information about how admission arrangements in the area of the local 
authority serve the interests of looked after children and previously looked after 
children, children with disabilities and children with special educational needs, 
including any details of where problems have arisen”. 
  
Please include details of:  
 

1. Any ways in which each of the following groups of children have been 
especially well served; and 
 

2. Any difficulties that have arisen for each group of children while 
allocating places for admission in September 2017.   

 
 
(a) How well are the interests of looked after children served? 
 
Fully   
 
Comments:  School Admissions have worked closely with the Virtual Head to 
set up a clear process by which LAC children are identified, applications 
processed and places allocated as a priority. Published Admissions Numbers 
are exceeded to take account of the preference providing the protocol is 
followed. 
 
 
(b) How well are the interests of previously looked after children served? 
 
Fully X    
 
 
Previously Looked After Children are prioritised -  in accordance with the 
school admissions code. 
 
 
(c) How well are the interests of children with disabilities served? 
 
Fully  
 
Comments:   
There are no reported  issues with Secondary Schools. 
Occasionally issues can arise with accessibility to preferred schools for 
primary age children, however  reasonable adjustments are made whenever 
required/possible. A few schools are struggling to fund the needs of children 
with disabilities because their numbers of SEN are increasing whilst their 
budgets have redcued in real terms. 
 

Page 18



4 of 16 

 
 
 
 
(d)  How well served are children who have special educational needs 

and who have a statement of special needs that names a school (or 
an education health and care plan? 

 
:Fully   
 
Comments:  There have been no issues in either Primary or Secondary sector 
where the Statement or Plan name the school. Occasional issues arise when 
the statementing process concludes after the allocation date and the school 
requested by parents is not the school offered within the allocation process.  
 
(e)  How well served are those children who have special needs, but do 

not have a statement?   
 
In part   
 
Comments:  Applications that indicate there might be some special need are 
reviewed individually and passed for further consideration if appropriate. No 
issues have been raised this year. Occasionally there are siiues when children 
new to the area and paperwork relating to their SEN have not caught up. 
 
3. Co-ordination of admissions 
 
A) During the normal admissions round 
 
Please assess the effectiveness of co-ordination of primary and secondary 
admissions for September 2017 in your local authority, highlighting any 
particular strength in the process or any problems that have arisen. 
 
Primary 
 

(a) How well has the operation of national offer day worked for primary 
admissions this year compared with previous years? 

 
Better    
  
Comments:  Once again more checks on addresses and anomalies have 
been introduced so the LA can be confident with the processes and their 
application. There has been one area of localised pressure and this has been 
addressed with consultation with two local primary Schools – extra places 
being provided. Additional work is now being done for longer term projections 
and provision.  
 
 
Secondary 
 

(b) How well has the operation of national offer day worked for secondary 

Page 19



5 of 16 

admissions this year compared with previous years? 
 
The same  
 

(c) If you have any UTCs or studio schools in your area, do you co-ordinate 
admissions for entry at the relevant year group for entry to these 
schools? 

 
This is not applicable 

 
If YES, please comment on how well the admissions process is working for 
these schools:   

 
 

If NO, do you have any evidence about how well the admission process 
is working for individual UTCs or studio schools?   

 
No 
 
If YES, please comment:   
 
B) In-year admissions 
 
The Code sets out that in-year admissions do not have to be co-ordinated by 
the local authority. 
 

(a) How many pupils have needed a school place because they do not 
have one or because parents have applied for a place as an in-year 
admission for any other reason between 1 September 2016 and 15 
June 2017? 

 
Number of pupils up to 

age 11 
Number of pupils over 

age 11 
Number of post-16 

students  
926 578  

 
(b) Does your local authority co-ordinate in-year admissions for all, some or 

none of the schools in your area? 
 

Some 
 
If ‘Some’, please complete the table below as appropriate 

 

Type of School 
Number of 
Schools for 
pupils up to 

age 11 

Number of 
Schools for 
pupils over 

age 11 

Number of all- 
through 
schools 

Community 30 5  
Voluntary Controlled 9 0  
Voluntary Aided 0 3  
Foundation 0 1  
Academy 0 3  

Page 20



6 of 16 

Free School    
UTC    
Studio School    
 

(c) Do you have any information about how many schools parents might 
approach before obtaining a place?  Please comment on any issues 
that have come to your attention. 

 
Comments:  No. We do have some applications forwarded from own 
admission authorities who are not able to offer a place. Parents do 
occasionally telephone for advice after making enquiries without actually 
having submitted an application. This has been addressed through various 
networks and school cluster meetings as well as directly with schools when 
the LA has been made aware. 
 

(d) How confident are you that the requirements of the Code at paragraph 
2.22, for schools to keep the local authority informed in a timely manner 
about applications and the outcomes, are being met?  (If you co-
ordinate all admissions for all schools then please tick not applicable.) 

 
Not confident  
 

(e) Across your local authority, how well have in-year admissions worked 
this year? 

 
Better than last year     
 

(f) Please comment on the effectiveness overall of in-year admission 
arrangements across all types of schools in your local authority. 

 
Comments: All secondary school applications are co-ordinated by the LA as 
agreed locally. 
Primary: - There is inconsistency between own admission authorities – most 
do not provide information on the applications received or the outcome. 
Anecdotally a number of parents have approached us after being told there 
are no places in their school. Some schools have enquiries but do not advise 
parents of the processes and the right to apply even if the year group is full. 
They are therefore not being afforded the opportunity to appeal even if they 
have exceptional circumstances. 
 This has been addressed through various networks and school cluster 
meetings as well as directly with schools when the LA has been made aware. 
The pressure on the LA and schools continues as it has for the previous two 
years. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 21



7 of 16 

 
 
 
4. Fair Access Protocol 
 
The Code at paragraph 3.9 requires each local authority to have agreed a Fair 
Access Protocol with the majority of schools in its area.  Paragraph 3.11 of the 
Code requires that all admission authorities must participate in the Fair Access 
Protocol. 
 

(a) Please confirm that your local authority has a Fair Access Protocol that 
has been agreed with the majority of schools in your area. 

 
Yes 

 
If NO, please explain:    
 

(b) Although a majority of schools, and perhaps all, will have agreed the 
Fair Access Protocol, some may not have done so.  Please state how 
many schools have not agreed your Fair Access Protocol? 

 

Type of School 
Number of 
Schools for 
pupils up to 

age 11 

Number of 
Schools for 
pupils over 

age 11 

Number of all- 
through 
schools 

Community 1 0  
Voluntary Controlled 1 0  
Voluntary Aided 1 0  
Foundation 0 0  
Academy 0 0  
Free School    
UTC    
Studio School    
 

(c) Where schools did not agree the Fair Access Protocol, please say why 
they did not agree. 

 
Three schools did not agree when the Fair Access Protocol was introduced 
and this has been reported as such since 2012. All three schools have been 
approached recently to ask for a review of the decision. Two of the Head 
teachers are very supportive of the local processes/protocol and are now 
approaching their Governing Body with a recommendation that they support 
the Fair Access Protocol. The Protocol is currently under review.At the date of 
this report. We are awaiting a response from the third school. 
 

  
(d) (i) Please give your assessment of how well your Fair Access 

Protocol      has worked in the academic year 2016/17 in placing 
children without a school place in schools in a timely manner. 

(e)  
Mostly well  

Page 22



8 of 16 

 
 
 
 

(ii) What is your general assessment of the working of the protocol 
compared with last year?  

 
As effective    

 
 

(iii) How frequently has the protocol been used to place a child 
compared with last year?  

 
More frequently  

 
(f) Have you any examples of particularly effective collaboration and 

working with individual schools, for example, placing children in year 6 
of a primary school or years 10 and 11 of a secondary school?   

 
 No   x 

 
Comments:  
 
One example is of five applications received about the same time, in the same 
locality for Year 5 pupils  within a few weeks of the end of the school year (ie 
going into Year 6). Four schools agreed to go over their PAN so that the one 
school with vacancies was not required to take all five at this critical stage. 
Two primary schools agreed to take over their PAN for just a few  weeks so 
the pupil could meet other pupils and participate in the transition programme. 
Schools generally are receptive to requests to take students at ket stages in 
their education.    
 

 
(g) Have you had  specific problems in allocating a place through the 

protocol, for example, where a school has been reluctant to accept a 
child? 
   

 
Comments:   
 There has been occasions when schools with available places  feel they do 
not have the capacity within school despite having vacancies. The local 
authority work closely with the schools to identify if there is a specific problem 
for example in a particular year group. The panels  take account of information 
schools provide  that gives evidence to a locailsed issue and act accordingly. 
Genrerally this is sorted through dialogue. Occasionally schools are told to 
admit, on other occasions parents are content to change their preference. 
 

 
 

(h) How many children have been admitted under the protocol to each type 
of school in your area?  How many children have been refused 
admission to a school? 

Page 23



9 of 16 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Type of School 

Number of children 
admitted 

Number of children 
refused admission 

Schools 
for 

pupils 
up to 

age 11 

Schools 
for 

pupils 
over age 

11 

All- 
through 
schools 

Schools 
for 

pupils 
up to 

age 11 

Schools 
for 

pupils 
over 

age 11 

All- 
through 
schools 

Community 187 76     
Voluntary Controlled 18      
Voluntary Aided 23 12     
Foundation 5 20     
Academy 11 17  1   
Free School       
UTC       
Studio School       

 
 
 

(i) If children have not been placed successfully in a school through the 
protocol, have you used the direction process to provide a place for a 
child? 

(j)  
No this has not been necessary. 

 
(k) If YES, how many children have been placed and in which type of 

school as a result of a direction, including a direction via the EFA on 
behalf of the Secretary of State or after a referral to the Adjudicator? 
 

Type of School 
Number of 
Schools for 
pupils up to 

age 11 

Number of 
Schools for 
pupils over 

age 11 

Number of all- 
through 
schools 

Community 0 0  
Voluntary Controlled 0 n/a  
Voluntary Aided 0 0  
Foundation 0 0  
Academy 0 0  
Free School    
UTC    
Studio School    
 

(l) Please add any other relevant information you wish to include in 
sections g - i concerning Fair Access Protocols. 
 

Comments: The application/interpretation of the FAP is currently under review 

Page 24



10 of 16 

due to the volume of applications being considered via the protocol. The LA 
has a broader range of criteria than the minimum recommended within the 
School Admissions Code. Schools who have shown resistance have been 
challenged and following a dialogue between LA and school a solution has 
usually been reached without having to go to Direction.  
 
5. Admission Appeals 
 
The Code requires data to be collected about appeals.  In order to meet this 
requirement the DfE will use the latest published Statistical First Release: 
admission appeals for maintained and academy primary and secondary 
schools in England. 
 
Taking into account comments reported in 2014, and data gathered for the first 
time in 2015, in response to the invitation to “add any comments about the 
appeals process in your area”, it would be helpful to  gather views once again  
across all local authorities on the extent to which schools that are their own 
admission authority continue to use local authority services for admission 
appeals. 
 

(a) Do any own admission authority schools use any of your services as 
part of the appeals process? 

 
Yes  

 
(b) If yes, please indicate the number of schools that use at least some of 

your services 
 

Type of School 
Number of 
Schools for 
pupils up to 

age 11 

Number of 
Schools for 
pupils over 

age 11 

Number of all- 
through 
schools 

Voluntary Aided 23 3  
Foundation 4 1  
Academy 3 3  
Free School    
UTC    
Studio School    

 
(c) Please indicate the services that are used : 

 

Type of School 
Schools for 
pupils up to 
age 11(Y/N) 

Schools for 
pupils over 
age 11 (Y/N) 

All- through 
schools (Y/N) 

Full appeals process Y y n/a 
Legal advice N n n/a 
Assistance in the 
preparation and 
presentation of case 
documentation 

y y n/a 

 

Page 25



11 of 16 

 
 

(d) Please add any other service related to appeals obtained from your 
local authority 

 
Comment 
The admission team provides information on distances and places offered and 
have on occasion provided templates or support writing the statement of 
Case. 

 
(e) Please add comments about any aspects of the appeals process in your 

area that work well or that cause difficulties, as appropriate. 
  
Comment 
The appeals process appears to work well and comments have been made to 
that effect from interpreters who both for other authorities as well as 
Rochdale. 
 
 
6. Other Issues 
 
A. Objections to admission arrangements 
 
Paragraph 3.2 in the Code says “local authorities must refer an objection to 
the Schools Adjudicator if they are of the view or suspect that the admission 
arrangements that have been determined by other admission authorities are 
unlawful”.   
 
 

(a) How many sets of admission arrangements of schools were queried 
directly by your local authority with schools that are their own admission 
authority because they were considered not to comply with the Code?  

 

Type of School 
Number of 
Schools for 
pupils up to 

age 11 

Number of 
Schools for 
pupils over 

age 11 

Number of all- 
through 
schools 

Voluntary Aided 0 0  
Foundation 0 0  
Academy 0 0  
Free School    
UTC    
Studio School    
 

(b) How confident are you that own admission authority admission 
arrangements are now fully compliant with the Code? 

 
Confident 
 
 

(c) How many schools did not send you a copy of their full admission 

Page 26



12 of 16 

arrangements, including any supplementary information form (or any 
such form by  another name, for example, religious inquiry form) if one 
is used, by 15 March, as required by paragraph 1.47 of the Code? 

 

Type of School 
Number of 
Schools for 
pupils up to 

age 11 

Number of 
Schools for 
pupils over 

age 11 

Number of all- 
through 
schools 

Voluntary Aided 0 0  
Foundation 0 0  
Academy 0 0  
Free School    
UTC    
Studio School    
 
B. Fraudulent applications 
 

(a) Is there any concern in your local authority about fraudulent 
applications? 

 
No  

 
(b) Did your local authority make any offers on national offer days that were 

subsequently withdrawn as a result of a fraudulent application?  
 
 
No 
 
 

 
(c) If YES, how many for each type of school? 

 

Type of School 
Number of 
Schools for 
pupils up to 

age 11 

Number of 
Schools for 
pupils over 

age 11 

Number of all- 
through 
schools 

Community 0 0  
Voluntary Controlled 0 0  
Voluntary Aided 0 0  
Foundation 1 0  
Academy 0 0  
Free School    
UTC    
Studio School    
 

 
 
 
 

(d) What action is your LA taking to prevent fraudulent applications? 
 

Page 27



13 of 16 

Comment: The authority continues to monitor address information – checking 
information provided against information already held. Parents are challenged 
where concerns are raised or  there are discrepancies – minimising or 
reducing the risk of fraudlent  or  misleading applications.  
 
 
C. Summer-born children, deferred entry and part-time attendance 
 
The DfE issued revised guidance in December 2014 “Advice on the admission 
on summer-born children” for local authorities, school admission authorities 
and parents (Link to Guidance).  The  Code at paragraph 2.16 deals with 
deferred entry and/or part-time attendance for children in the year they reach 
compulsory school age.  Paragraph 2.17, 2.17A and 2.17B refer to the 
admission of children outside their normal age group. 
 

(a) Do you keep data for any schools on the number of requests from 
parents who ask that their child is admitted to a class outside their 
normal age group?  

 
Yes 

 
(i) For community and voluntary controlled schools:      Yes  

 
(ii) For own admission authority schools:  No 

 
If YES in answer to (a) above, please complete the tables: 
 

Type of 
School 

In 2016, how many requests for deferred 
admission to year R in 2017 were agreed for a 

child who will have reached the normal age 
for Year 1? 

Community 
& Voluntary 
Controlled 

0 

Own 
Admission 
Authority 

0 

 
 

Type of School 
How many requests to 

defer admission to year R 
in 2017 were received?  

How many of those 
requests were 

subsequently agreed? 
Community & 
Voluntary 
Controlled 

0 0 

Own Admission 
Authority 0 0 

 
 

(b) What reasons, if known, were given for seeking to defer the admission 
to year R of  children for a full school year? 

 

Page 28

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/summer-born-children-school-admission


14 of 16 

Comments:  Telephone enquiries have been made but no formal applications 
were made. The most common enquiry is when parents are not given the first 
preference. They believe deferring will give them an option to apply to go into 
Reception the following year to get their foot in the door and then be able to 
move them into the chronological age group when a vacancy occurs.  
 
 

(c) Do you have any other comments on the matter of admission of 
summer-born children, including requests to delay admissions made 
after the allocation of places in the normal admissions round? 

 
Comments:- A request has been made to delay entry into reception for a child 
normally to be admitted in 2017 but will be admitted now to reception 2018. 
Child has an EHC plan and is still non-verbal but starting to engage with 
speech and language therapy. Parents requested deferred entry to allow the 
opportunity for their child to develop speech and language skills within the 
current nursery setting supported by familiar staff. Request was supported by 
professionals working with the child. Deferred entry was agreed as the school 
and the nursery were supporting the application. 
 

(d) Do you have any comments about  paragraph 2.16c) in the Code 
concerning the offer and/or take-up of part-time attendance by children 
below compulsory school age? 

 
Comments: Parents are advised of this option at every opprotunity but schools 
are concerned and need clarity about the funding arrangments for Reception 
children of non compulsory age attending on a part time basis.. The LA is not 
advised by schools about the take up of this option by schools. 
 
 
D. Pupil, service and early years premium 

 
The 2014 Code permits all schools to give priority for admission in 2017 to 
children eligible for the pupil, service or early years premium (paragraphs 
1.39A and 1.39B).  If admission authorities wish to introduce such a priority 
they must have consulted as required by the Code in paragraphs 1.42-1.45. 
 

(a) Pupil and service premium 
 

In respect of community and voluntary controlled schools: 
 

Type of School 

Has the LA 
considered 

giving priority 
to 

pupil/service 
premium? 

(Y/N) 

If YES, have 
you consulted 

on this? 
(Y/N) 

In response to 
consultation 

has the priority 
been 

implemented? 
(Y/N) 

Community Primary y y Y 
Voluntary Controlled 
Primary y y Y 

Page 29



15 of 16 

Community 
Secondary y y Y 

Voluntary Controlled 
Secondary y y Y 

 
Comments:  The authority has introduced and implemented an Armed Forces 
Covenant. As part of that convenant children eligible for the Service 
Premioum are given priority above proximity within the oversubscription 
criterion  
 
 
In respect of own admission authority schools: 
 

Type of School 

Has the LA been 
consulted by any 
own admission 

authority of the type 
shown below on 
giving priority to 

pupil/service 
premium? 

(Y/N) 

If YES in response 
to consultation, 
for how many 

schools has the 
priority been 

implemented? 
(Please give the 

number) 

Voluntary Aided Primary n   
Foundation Primary n   
Academy Primary n   
Free School Primary n/a   
Voluntary Aided Secondary n   
Foundation Secondary n   
Academy Secondary n   
Free School Secondary n/a   
UTC n/a   
Studio School n/a   
 
Comments:   
Most admissions authoritiy schools do adopt the authority`s position on 
matters such as this and have previously incorporated this into their admission 
policies in previous years. There has been no consulation this year. 

 
(b) Early years pupil premium - nursery priority 

 
In respect of community and voluntary controlled schools: 
 

Type of School 

Has the LA 
considered 

giving priority 
to early years 

pupil 
premium? 

(Y/N) 

If YES, have 
you consulted 

on this? 
(Y/N) 

In response to 
consultation 

has the priority 
been 

implemented? 
(Y/N) 

Community Primary n     
Voluntary Controlled n     

Page 30



16 of 16 

Primary 
 
Comments:   
 
 
In respect of own admission authority schools: 
 

Type of School 

Has the LA been 
consulted by any own 
admission authority of 

the type shown below on 
giving priority to early 
years pupil premium? 

(Y/N) 

If YES in response 
to consultation, 
for how many 

schools has the 
priority been 

implemented? 
(Please give the 

number) 
Voluntary Aided Primary n   
Foundation Primary n   
Academy Primary n   
Free School Primary n   
 
Comments:    
 

 
 
E. Local Authority Issues 
 
Please provide details of any other issues that you would like to raise and/or 
comment on that have not been already covered in this report. 
 
Comments: There is still a mismatch between the timeline for assessing 
children of Nursery age in the year before they start school and the admission 
timeline with a closing date for school admission of 15th January.  

 
 
 

Thank you for completing this report 
 

Please email your completed report to: osa.team@osa.gsi.gov.uk 
 
 

Page 31

mailto:osa.team@osa.gsi.gov.uk


Page | 1 

 

Subject: Link4Life Annual Performance Review 
2016-17

Status: For Publication

Report to: Health, Schools and Care Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

Portfolio: Cllr Janet Emsley Neighbourhoods, 
Community and Culture 

Date: 27th July 2017
 

Report of: Gillian Bishop, Chief Executive Link4Life
Author Email: nathan.matley@link4life.org 

Author:        Nathan Matley  

Tel:              01706 926601  
  
Comments from Statutory 
Officers:

Monitoring Officer:   Yes    
Section 151 Officer: Yes 

Key Decision: 

1 Purpose of Report

1.1 To provide Members of the Committee with information relating to the performance 
of the Rochdale Boroughwide Cultural Trust, trading as Link4Life at the end of the 
financial year 2016-2017.

2 Recommendations

2.1      It is recommended that Members note the content of this report.

3 Background

3.1 The Council's Sport, Leisure and Cultural Services transferred to the Rochdale 
Borough wide Cultural Trust (trading as Link4Life) on the 1st April 2007 under the 
terms of a Partnership Agreement between the Council and the Trust. This Agreement 
spans 15 years (2007 – 2022) with the option to extend for a further 5 years.     

3.2 Link4Life Vision - Link4Life developed a new Corporate Strategy for 2016 – 
19 designed as a two page, outward facing public document that articulates the Trust’s 
strategic vision, key aims and business objectives over the next three years.

3.3 To underpin what the Trust does, Members are also advised that the Link4Life 
Board has an approved set of Core Values, which outline how the Trust will operate. 
These are outlined below:-

We have PRIDE in where we work and what we do:-

Page 32

Agenda Item 7

mailto:nathan.matley@link4life.org


Page | 2 

Passion, Respect, Integrity, Drive, Excellence

3.4 Those indicators which are measured “per 1,000 population are calculated 
using the 2011 Census figure for the Borough’s population of 212,000”. 

3.5 Detailed information in respect of the full range of performance indicators can 
be found in Appendix 1.

Alternatives considered

3.6 There is the alternative of reporting performance to only the lead officers and 
Portfolio Holder. Reporting to the Scrutiny Committee provides additional assurance 
that it receives value for money in respect of the Contract Fee being paid to the Trust 
for the delivery of services and that those services contribute to the achievement of the 
Council’s corporate aims and objectives.  

3.7 If Link4Life were not to report on performance, it would contravene its 
obligations under Schedule 11 of the Partnership Agreement (‘Governance and 
Monitoring’ arrangements), which currently requires the Trust to attend Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee meetings and present performance reports “in accordance with 
the Council’s corporate performance management framework as varied from time to 
time”.

4 Revised Performance Framework 

4.1 Since the inception of Link4Life in 2007, the development of its performance 
management framework has been subject to consultation with the council and 
agreement by the Council. The Council and Link4Life completed a joint review of the 
performance indicators and implemented a revised set of indicators for 2016-17 
including an annual corporate health check as well as KPI’s. 

4.2 In 2016-17, the management of the client/contractor relationship between 
Rochdale Borough Council and Link4Life transferred from Finance (Pauline Kane) to 
Public Health (Andrea Fallon). Gordon Ridehalgh continues in the role of Client Officer. 
Quarterly meetings are held to review performance by lead Officers and further 
updates are also provided to the Portfolio Holder.

5 Service Updates

5.1 Sport, Leisure & Civic Venues

5.1.1 Footgolf was introduced at Marland Golf Course at the end of February to take 
advantage of quieter times at the course and to also introduce what is a new and 
expanding sport. Marland has taken 87 bookings, including 10 Groupon bookings and 
its first birthday party was hosted in the newly converted hospitality room at the course.

An online Tee booking facility for the 18 hole Golf Course has also been introduced 
which is proving to be an excellent way reach customers new to the course.  

Recent comments received on Google with a 4.9 star rating are;
‘Fantastic course. Really well maintained the greens are superb. Like the fact you can 
book a tee off time at weekends.’ 
‘Friendly well run club with great staff and a top ranking greens care staff’

Page 33



Page | 3 

5.1.2 One of the biggest investments this period was the introduction of the 
Spektrix Box Office and marketing system at Middleton Arena, Heywood Civic and 
Touchstones. This has replaced the previous box office system and will enable 
Link4Life to operate a fully modernised box office with all of the latest innovations and 
features. We are able to gather customer information and manipulate that data to help 
develop sales and secondary sales, targeted marketing campaigns and direct emailing 
to customers with specific information catered to their interests.

5.1.3 Link4Life has been working in partnership with two independent external 
consultants to look at innovative ways to improve and develop our services and 
facilities at Middleton Arena and Hollingworth Lake Water Activity Centre.

5.1.4 The 2016 pantomimes at Heywood Civic Centre and Middleton Arena were 
again great successes, continuing to develop and helping to create a positive 
reputation for both venues. Middleton Arena hosts a pantomime spectacular 
showcasing the best in production values and Heywood Civic brings an affordable 
alternative for those families on lower incomes so that all children in the borough have 
the opportunity to see a pantomime in the run up to Christmas

Middleton Arena hosted the classic Jack and the Beanstalk while Heywood Civic 
hosted Cinderella. In total we sold a total of 13,894 tickets for Jack & the Beanstalk 
and a total of 5,070 tickets for Cinderella, both shows were staged by Shone 
Production under room hire agreements. There were 60 performances of Jack & the 
Beanstalk, 18 of which were school performances and there was 16 performances of 
Cinderella all aimed at the general public.

This year Shone Productions are staging Sleeping Beauty at Middleton Arena and we 
welcome a new partner, Trio Entertainments who will be staging The Wizard of Oz at 
Heywood Civic.

5.2 Culture, Health and Participation

5.2.1 The Culture, Health and Participation (CHAP) Service was created two years 
ago to bring together three of Link4Life’s complimentary and community focused 
programme areas:

Culture (Arts and Heritage)
Health and Wellbeing 
Sports and Physical Activity Community Outreach

5.3 Culture

5.3.1 In December we invested in an upgrade to Santa’s Grotto, providing us with a 
set that can be used each year. The grotto proved very popular with many people 
commenting that it was a much more intimate experience and their children had lots of 
time with Santa.

5.3.2 Link4Life have arranged for a visit by leading Egyptologist Margaret Serpico to 
advise on the next Heritage Gallery exhibition showing in the museum’s Egyptian 
collection. (27 May 2017 - 21 April 2018)

5.3.3 A magic day in October was a great success. We welcomed Mavis Sparkle, 
M6’s wonderful show for children and young people, over 200 young people and their 
families took part in high quality arts provision, watching theatre and participating in 
arts based workshops.

Page 34



Page | 4 

5.4 Health and Wellbeing

5.4.1 129 people have now completed the Functional Fitness course since April 2016 
with two further courses now underway at Middleton Arena & Heywood Sports Village.

5.4.2 Health MOT’s have been undertaken across a number of Link4Life & RBC sites 
to over 100 employees. Health awareness events were also held at N1R which was 
attended by 112 employees & 11 external provider organisations.

5.5 Sport and Physical Activity

5.5.1 The Go4it Holiday Programme has been schedules across each school holiday 
in 2016-17 with a total attendance of 10951. Link4Life are planning further 
improvements and expansions to the holiday programme for 2017-18.

5.5.2 A ‘Couch to 5k’ running group has been set up at Kingsway Park for beginner 
runners to learn how to run. Over 40 people are now in regular attendance on a weekly 
basis on the programme.

6 Improving Performance – The following section highlights areas of where the 
targets for 2016-17 have been met or surpassed

6.1       Sport, Leisure and Civic Venues

6.1.1 In October 2016, Link4Life introduced a new system which utilises new 
technology and hand held devices to deliver and monitor the junior swimming lesson 
programme. The lessons also changed to a continuous programme, rather than in 
blocks of 10. This has increased the flexibility of the programme, and children move 
when they have reached the level of attainment, rather than wait until the end of a 
block. The change, also allows parents to log on to a ‘home portal’ and check their 
child’s progress. The change has facilitated an impressive growth in the numbers of 
children who are members of the swim academy with a 12.5% increase in enrollees 
from 2015-16 and a significant over achievement of target.

Indicator 2015-16 Target 2016-17
Total number of juniors 

enrolled on  Link4LifeSwim 
Academy swimming lessons

2594 2650 2917 

The efficiency of the Academy has also improved with less admin time required as 
over 95% of parents now pay by Direct Debit. The income target for The Link4Life 
Swim Academy is now over £700,000 per annum (this is from a starting point of 
£273,000, 5 years ago, when there were around 1600 children on the scheme).

6.1.2 Fitness memberships have been under increasing pressure from external 
budget gyms over the last few years and they continue to impact on our business. In 
particular both Middleton Arena and Rochdale Leisure Centre have faced strong 
competition from new low cost gyms. However, Link4life take great pride in the 
performance of the fitness facilities in relation to the ability to retain our existing 
members. Given the expanding choice of fitness facilities it is pleasing to see Link4Life 
continue to have a low attrition rate, (the rate at which members leave). It continues to 
be below target and also significantly lower than industry averages. (Current national 

Page 35



Page | 5 

average of 6.1% (Source: UK active Benchmarking report)

Indicator 2015-16 Target 2016-17
Rate of fitness membership 

attrition (monthly) 3.68% 4.00% 2.26% 

6.1.3 The YourLink4Life card is now in its second year of operation and continues to 
be well received by customers. The separate YourLink4Life card offers discounted 
prices for any customers not eligible for an extra card and unlike the Extra card is not 
limited to customers residing in the borough.  Currently 79.5% of the 5276 card 
holders hold the enhanced extra card. 

The ‘YourLink4Life’ Extra card replaced the previous Passport To Leisure (PTL) 
scheme. The use of this card is to assist  Rochdale Borough residents who are eligible 
under one of the following categories: aged 16-19 and in full-time education or training; 
Over 60’s; Receiving Universal Credit or other means tested benefits including, 
Disability, Long-Term Illness or War Disabled, Receiving Carers Allowance including 
Fostering or Adoption.

The table below shows the performance targets for the YourLink4Life card 
membership scheme. Both cards available have exceeded the targets set, and both 
have seen significant increases from 2015-16. Overall we now have 5276 members 
who have either a YourLink4Life or a YourLink4Life Extra card; this is an increase of 
22.2% on last year.

Indicator 2015-16 Target 2016-17
YourLink4Life Card 

Members (including Extra) 4319 4500 5276 
Extra Card Members 3317 3400 4195 
Visits - YourLink4Life 

Card 136413 138000 175684 
Visits - YourLink4Life 

Extra 122810 124000 165689 

6.1.4 The number of visits from extra card holders has exceeded the target set, and 
has seen an increase in visits of 35%.

The overall aim of the card is to widen access and participation across the borough 
with the goal of reducing health inequalities. The increased insight and data the card 
provides, has shown that 28.08% of card holders are from the 10% or less SOA’s 

Link4Life has also extended the times at which the Extra cards can be used from off 
peak only to access at all times. This is one of the main factors as to why take up has 
increased and now gives extra cards holders and normal members the same level of 
access.

6.1.5 At the start of 2016, Link4Life purchased four advanced medical grade body 
composition monitoring machines, and granted unlimited access to fitness members to 
enable them to track and monitor body composition changes. The number of scans 
that have been completed (14961) which have far exceeded the target and our 

Page 36



Page | 6 

expectations for this year. It is hoped that this fantastic service will be one of the key 
unique selling points for our fitness centre’s and enable not only our fitness members, 
but also their instructors to gain fantastic insight into the effects and results of their 
exercise programmes and provide an excellent platform to aid the retention of 
members who can now track their progress and improvements.

Indicator 2015-16 Target 2016-17
Number of Fitness Member Boditrax 

Health Checks 5577 6000 14961 

6.1.6 Annually Link4Life conduct a customer satisfaction survey. One the key 
questions relates to the satisfaction level of customers. In the 16-17 survey 86.17% of 
customers responded that they rating the level of satisfactions as either good or 
excellent. This represents an improvement from 72% in 15-16 and also exceeds the 
target of 74%

Indicator 2015-16 Target 2016-17
Customer survey result – Satisfaction 

rating (Customer rating the level of 
satisfaction as Good or Excellent)

72.00% 74% 86.17% 

6.2 Culture

6.2.1 Link4Life rebuilt their website in November 2016 and further expanded the 
information available on other platforms such as Google and Facebook. This has 
helped increase the number of online visit to the services the service offers during 
2016-17

Indicator 2015-16 Target 2016-17

The number of online visits 171709 175000 185417 

6.2.2 The team at Touchstones has succeeded in supporting and developing a 
number of key priorities.

The number of people aged 0-25 who and engaged in non-educational activities 
delivered by the service has increased from 4477 in 2015-16 to 5056 in 2016-17.

Furthermore the number of adults taking part in organised projects and activities has 
seen substantial growth with an increase of 41.4% from 2015-16. This has been 
supported by an increase in the number of events the service has hosted and been 
involved with directly.

Indicator 2015-16 Target 2016-17
The number of children/young people 
(aged 0 - 25) engaged in organised 
projects or activities outside formal 

4477 5000 5056 

Page 37



Page | 7 

education

The number of adults taking part in 
organised projects/activities 10358 7,000 14655 

The number of items documented 5294 5500 5852 

6.2.3 Touchstones met the target of achieving the Visit England Quality Mark 
Achievement, with an outstanding score of 85%. Recent improvements works to the 
bathroom facilities alongside the provision of excellent levels of customer service and 
knowledge helped maintain the award.
 
This year’s award included the café which had just recently opened prior to the 
inspection. When you exclude the catering elements to provide a like for like 
comparison with last year’s award (87%), Touchstones would have improved further to 
88%. (Last year’s award did not include any catering elements)

6.2.4 It is also encouraging to note that some of the service improvements made at 
Touchstones and across the Arts and Heritage service have been well received by 
customers and service users. Customer survey results have shown an increase in 
2016-17 from 71% to 82.25% of customers rating the level of satisfaction as good or 
excellent.

Indicator 2015-16 Target 2016-17
Customer survey result – satisfaction 
rating (Customer rating the level of 
satisfaction as Good or Excellent)

71.00% 73% 82.25% 

Visit England Quality Mark Achievement Achieved To 
Achieve Achieved 

6.2.5 Volunteering remains a vital and much appreciated element of the offer at 
Touchstone, giving community members an ideal platform to help with the Arts and 
Heritage services work and projects. The number of volunteers and new volunteers 
has exceeded the target this year.

Indicator 2015-16 Target 2016-17

No of Volunteers new 100 102 
No of New Volunteers new 10 29 

6.2.6 One new indicator (AAH17) was to facilitate the formation of a Rochdale 
Boroughwide Cultural Forum. This forum has now been established as a result of the 
hard work of officers and managers within the service.

6.3 Health and Participation

Page 38



Page | 8 

6.3.1 The Health and Participation Team currently deliver over 20 programmes, 
many of them on an ‘outreach’ or community development basis of which most are 
largely dependent on external funding.

6.3.2 903 outreach sessions were delivered in 2016-17. Attendance at these 
sessions has far exceeded expectations and the target of 7700 was easily surpassed 
with over 13,688 visits to the outreach sessions. This has been aided by the 
continuation of the Activ8te Me programme. Funding has ended for this scheme, but 
the scheme was so successful that most sessions delivered are now self-sustaining 
and thus have been continued into 2016-17 and have allowed for the delivery of health 
and activity sessions at venues away from the Leisure Centre’s. Venues such as 
community halls, sports clubs and social clubs are now hosting such sessions.

Indicator 2015-16 Target 2016-17

Number of Outreach Sessions delivered 471 600 903 
Attendance at Community Outreach 

sessions (focus on participation) 7653 7700 13688 

6.3.3 The Energy Club – our children’s healthy weight project has made great 
progress during 2016-17. The number of children who are attending or have attended 
in 2016-17 has increased by 54% and has seen some great results with over 85% of 
the children on the scheme maintaining or reducing their BMI following attendance on 
the course. It is also encouraging to see that a large number of attendees continue to 
remain active after the course by attended the follow on Junior Skills course with over 
90% choosing to continue. The facilitation of self–referrals has further helped increase 
numbers and take-up of the scheme.

Indicator 2015-16 Target 2016-17

Energy Club (Children’s Healthy Weight project)
Number of children aged 4 to 12 years 

engaged in programme 85 120 131 
No of children enrolled on 'Junior Skills' 

(follow on course) 80 118 
% of children enrolled on programme who 

maintain or reduce BMI 80% 85.33% 

6.3.4 2016-17 has been very successful for Link4Life’s programme of targeted 
health interventions and activities continues to expand and develop. 1220 
participants have taken part in the scheme and 1071 different sessions delivered. The 
success of walking football is one such example of the increasing popularity of the 
sessions being delivered.

Indicator - Participation in health 
development activities 2015-16 Target 2016-17

(Targeted at health conditions e.g. Stroke, LTC's, and Falls etc.)

Page 39



Page | 9 

No. of participants in community outreach 
activities 925 1000 1220 

No. of activity sessions delivered 471 500 1018 

6.3.5 Link4Life offers a wide range of accessible activities in and out of school time 
and during the school holidays. Programmes are tailored to suit the needs of young 
people offering exciting and enjoyable environments with the opportunity to participate 
develop and progress. 

During 2016-17, 349 children and 1044 adult participants had taken part in the 
programmes. This was an increase of 10.8% and 37.9% respectively.

Indicator - Disability Sports Activities 2015-16 Target 2016-17
No. of participants in disability sports activities 

- children 315 250 349 
No. of participants in disability sports activities   

- adults 757 500 1044 

6.4 Corporate Health and Compliance

6.4.1 Link4Life has seen the number of service complaints that were upheld reduce 
from 52% in 2015-16 to 35% in 2016-17.

We received in total 108 complaints in 2016-17 compared with 110 in 2015-16. 
Link4Life received one complaint per 18,697 visits. Link4Life places a high value on 
the encouragement of feedback from customers and have recently increased the 
visual appearance and availability of comments forms and posters throughout the 
centre’s and on our revamped website. Customers can also comment online via the 
RBC feedback system which is passed directly to Link4Life.

Indicator – Corporate 
Compliance 2015-16 Target 2016-17

Complaints upheld 52.00% 45.00% 35.02% 
Annual Health Check n/a To Complete Completed 

6.4.2 During 2016-17 Link4Life also continually updated what was introduced as an 
annual health check. This is an ongoing process whereby Link4Life and RBC work 
together to ensure that the health and governance of Link4Life is maintained at high 
levels. This has been successfully completed for 16-17. To give members an 
understanding of items that are assessed in the health check, the list below outlines 
some examples:

 Provide copy of Safety policy(s) to RBC
 Ensure DBS checks/Risk Analysis performed in respect of staff & members 

dealing with Children and Vol Adults
 Maintain Live Inventories of Assets at each site
 Submit the Annual Company Report and Accounts Report to the Council

Page 40



Page | 10 

 Compliance with Data Protection Act inc Registration
 Review and Agree Service User Charges
 Review of Buildings - Works Programme
 AGMA Projects and Vol Sector Grants - produce report as to outcomes

6.5 Financial – Value For Money

6.5.1 The Sport, Leisure and Civic venues made further financial performance 
improvements in 2016-17. The net cost per person (visit) has been reduced from £0.13 
in 2015-16 to £0.11in 2016-17 and has exceeded the target of £0.19. With a long term 
desire for the service within Link4Life to be subsidy free, this again is an encouraging 
pattern and bodes well for future years.

Indicator 2015-16 Target 2016-17
Sport, Leisure & Civic venues - net cost 

per person (visit) £0.13 £0.19 £0.11 

7         Under Performance

7.1 The following section highlights areas of performance where the 2016-17 
targets were not met and are greater than 5% from the set targets. The explanations 
for this are provided along with action to improve the performance over the next year.

7.2 Sport and Leisure

7.2.1 The number of fitness members at the Link4Life fitness sites has fallen from 
10,572 at the end of 15-16 to 8928 at the end of 2016-17.

Indicator 2015-16 Target 2016-17

Total Number of Fitness Members 10572 10604 8928 

In the main this has been as a direct effect of two large scale budget gyms coming into 
the market within the borough alongside the existing budget gyms, which have placed 
increasing competition for Link4Life in this very competitive market.

The main factor in this was the opening of a large JD Gym within Rochdale town 
Centre and the opening of an Exercise 4 Less facility in Middleton. Both offer 
substantially lower monthly charges.

Link4Life have developed an action plan for 2017-18, which includes improving the 
membership offer and package available and this included a revised pricing package 
along with a range of other enhanced benefits to members. Additional sales and 
customer care training has been provided for all key staff, and a new senior 
membership sales manager post has been developed. Link4Life have also developed 
a social media strategy aimed at increasing our engagement with members and 
prospective members via social media. 

Link4Life and Rochdale BC are also planning to install new fitness equipment into 

Page 41



Page | 11 

Middleton Arena in 2017-18.

The loss of just over 15% of the membership is placing further pressure on other 
performance indicators, in particular the finance KPI’s. However, Link4Life continue to 
deliver a very competitive and strong fitness offer and are providing services and 
facilities at a much higher standard than those offered by budget gyms. A fresh and 
revised marketing strategy is being implemented to further highlight the enhanced offer 
our facilities provide.

7.2.2 The achievement of pupils attending KS2 Swimming has fallen slightly over the 
last academic year. As with other similar demographic areas the number of children 
achieving KS2 remains less than 50%. The overall national average remains at around 
50% of primary school children not able to swim to standard. This equates to around 1 
million children nationally. Every effort is being made to improve the performance in 
this area. Additional teacher training has been introduced, lesson programmes have 
been revamped and lessons have been changed from 30 mins to one hour. Obviously, 
the level of pupils swimming ability when they start their course of training is not in 
Link4Life’s control, however, it is hoped that the increase in numbers on the Link4Life 
Swim Academy programme (public swimming lessons) will feed through to school 
swimming as more pupils enter the programme with some previous experience of 
swimming.

Indicator 2015-16 Target 2016-17
The % of children achieving Key Stage 2 

(swim 25m) 45.80% 46.50% 43.24% 

7.2.3 The percentage of card holders who resided in the 10% most deprived Lower 
Super Output Areas (LSOA) in the borough has reduced slightly. This has been 
attributed to the fact that Link4Life as part of the fitness review removed off peak 
pricing. This has meant that a number of over 60’s who were previously restricted to 
off peak (for pricing reasons) can now have full unlimited access. As a result we have 
seen a rise in the number of extra cards issues to over 60’s, of which a large number 
do not reside in SOA. (Please note: the other eligibility criteria for extra card 
membership are means tested via economic factors rather than age.)

Indicator 2015-16 Target 2016-17
Percentage of Extra cardholders from 

areas  10% >SOA areas 29.20% 30% 28.08% 

7.2.4 Link4Life conducts an annual net promoter score survey to all fitness members 
annually. The Net Promoter Score is an index ranging from -100 to 100 that measures 
the willingness of customers to recommend a company’s products or services to 
others. It is used as a proxy for gauging the customer’s overall satisfaction with a 
company’s product or service and the customer’s loyalty to the brand. Customers are 
surveyed on one single question. They are asked to rate on an 11-point scale the 
likelihood of recommending the company or brand to a friend or colleague.

“On a scale of 0 to 10, how likely are you to recommend this company’s product or 
service to a friend or a colleague?”

Page 42



Page | 12 

There was a slight decrease in the score in 16-17, this has been attributed to price 
changes and some operational/maintenance issues at Middleton Arena which saw a 
decrease from a NPS score of 19% to 5%. Improvement work is planned for Middleton 
Arena to address this, along with refresh of gym equipment.

Indicator 2015-16 Target 2016-17
Customer Satisfaction - net promoter 

score 34% 35% 31% 

Venue Surveys Promoters Detractors 2017 2016
Heywood 

Sports 
Village

313 59% 16% 43% 45%

Littleborough 
Sports 
Centre

96 60% 14% 46% 42%

Middleton 
Arena 203 38% 33% 5% 19%

Rochdale 
Leisure 
Centre

392 52% 22% 30% 31%

Total Group 1004 31% 34%

7.2.5 Attendance on the School Holiday programme across Link4Life sites was slightly 
lower than the target and last year’s total. However, last year’s figure included a week 
at the end of March in which the Easter holidays fell, whereas in 16-17 the Easter 
holidays were in April. Overall attendance on the programme was excellent and the 
centre’s, via a dedicated School Holiday Activity Officer continue to deliver an 
extensive and diverse offer.

7.2.6 Youth fitness numbers have reduced as a result of a change within the main 
fitness membership. Link4Life host supervised sessions for 12-16 year olds which 
customers book on to. From January 2017, Link4Life changed the minimum age to  
become a full fitness member to 14 from 16, and as a result a number of youths are 
now full fitness members and have unlimited access to the facilities. They no longer 
attend the youth fitness sessions, as they access the main gym.

Indicator 2015-16 Target 2016-17

School Holiday Programme Attendance 11228 12000 10951 
Youth (12-16) Fitness Session Usage 60789 61000 56728 

7.3 Culture

7.3.1 The number of visitors to Touchstones has fallen since 2015-16. This is 
representative of an overall decline in visits to Museums across the UK as report by 
the Department for Culture, Media and Sport who revealed that there was a 1.4million 

Page 43



Page | 13 

drop in visits annually which included a significant drop in the number of young people 
visiting these museums for educational purposes. 

However, this has not stopped Link4Life with planning ahead to address the reducing 
attendances and a new programming and events post has been created to review the 
current programme and look at ways of enhancing the service to increase visitor 
numbers. Link4Life are also working towards increasing the number of events held at 
the museum including opening the museum for Friday night events. 

Indicator 2015-16 Target 2016-17

No of visitors to Touchstones Rochdale 48696 54000 46341 
The number of those visits in person per 

1,000 population 229.70 254.72 218.59 

7.3.2 As reported in 7.3.1, visitor numbers in general across the UK are falling and in 
particular the number of visits for education purposes. The greatest decline in visitor 
numbers nationally came from educational visits and school groups. There was a 6.9% 
drop in children under 18 being taken on school trips and participating in workshops 
and educational activities in the galleries and museums. This decline is also mirrored
in the number of pupils visiting Touchstones which is down 9% on 2015-16. 

Indicator 2015-16 Target 2016-17
The number of pupils visiting 

Touchstones Rochdale 7324 7400 6665 
The number of school children using the 
service outside of Touchstones Rochdale 9920 10000 9278 

Link4Life have implemented a focused strategic plan to target reducing this decline;
We have Commissioned Curious Minds, the North West Specialist Cultural Education 
advisory body, funded by Arts Council England, to undertake an external review of our 
programme to facilitate us to better engage with schools and also in order to 
make recommendations given the significant changes to school curriculum, 
governance and funding models. 

We are now in the process of a 12 month period of transformation in line with the 
recommendations. The focus will be to co-design with schools, increase the depth of 
engagement and explore a ‘place’ based cultural curriculum to compliment the national 
curriculum.

Link4Life have also initiated the development of a Local Cultural Education 
Partnership with M6 Theatre and the Music Service to bring together cultural providers 
and schools in Rochdale to develop joint working to improve access to cultural 
education for children and young people across the Borough. 

Local Cultural Education Partnerships are a national initiative championed by Arts 
Council England and supported regionally by Curious Minds. Development of an 
LCEP will enable Link4Life to work with partners across the sector to take a strategic 
approach to increasing engagement in cultural education opportunities for schools 
across the Borough, therefore positively impacting on our own performance but also 
supporting the engagement of partners.

Page 44



Page | 14 

7.4 Corporate Health and Compliance

7.4.1 There was one indicator that didn’t meet the target set; this was the average 
number of days lost to sickness (see below).

Indicator 2015-16 Target 2016-17
Average number of days lost due to 

sickness absence 7.23 7 7.48 

Throughout the first half of the year Link4Life were on track to meet the target, which 
had improved since last year with the goal of reducing sickness to an average of 7 
days per annum. Unfortunately a number of long term sicknesses affected this figure in 
the third and fourth quarters and we fell short of the target.

Link4Life have a robust sickness monitoring process in place using the Bradford 
factor. Each member of staff’s sickness record is taking into account when conducting 
personal development reviews. Link4Life will continue proactively manage absence 
through measuring, monitoring and intervention – with a long term goal of a decrease 
in absences.

7.5 Financial Value For Money

7.5.1 The reduction in visits to Touchstones (see 7.3.1) has directly led to the net 
cost per person increasing in this financial year. The changes being implemented 
across the service to address this will hopefully facilitate an improvement in this figure 
next year. The figure was not attributable to over expenditure; expenditure across the 
service has reduced in 2016-17.

It is also difficult to accurately record usage due to the open nature of Touchstones 
and lack of turnstiles and control methods. Link4Life are investigating ways of using 
new technology to more accurately track usage within Touchstones.

2015-16 Target 2016-17
Arts and Heritage - net cost per 

person (visit) £13.02 £13.14 £17.40 
New External Funding (restricted) 

Generated 418656 £420000 £295446 
Subsidy per Extra Card Holder £91.29 £92.00 £80.55 

7.5.2 External funding was slightly lower than previous years, and less than the 
target set. With austerity measures across the UK impacting on many organisations 
funding was much more difficult to attract during 2016-17. 

Sport England, a major source of funding within Link4Life also delayed the release of 
funding pots until after the release of their new strategy –Towards and Active Nation.

Link4Life will continue to monitor all funding opportunities, and seek funding across a 
broad spectrum of areas in 2017-18 to supplement and expand on the core services 
we offer.

Page 45



Page | 15 

7.5.3 The subsidy per YourLInk4Life extra card holder has reduced in 2016-17 as a 
result of the changes made to the level of discount available to card holders. 
Link4Life’s management fee was reduced as per the efficiencies programme, one of 
the areas savings were recommended was to reduce the discount level to card 
holders. Swimming for example is now discounted to 40% rather than the 50% in 
2015-16. 

Whilst the discount per person has fallen in 2016-17, Link4Life now have substantially 
more card holders than in 2015-16 (see 6.1.3) and the total level of subsidy has 
increased from £302,808 in 15-16 to £347,545.40.

8 Summary of Performance

8.1 At of the end of 2016-17 of the 69 indicators with targets set, Link4Life 
achieved 62.32% of these. 11.59% were within 5% or less of the target. 

8.2 26.09% (18 indicators) fell short of the targets set at year end, although some 
still saw an increase on the 2015-16 figures.

8.3 Some of the indicators are directly linked in such that if one indicator is below 
target the other one will be too. For example the number of visits (AAH1) is directly 
linked to the number of visits per 1000 so if one is not met, subsequently the other will 
not be either. This is being addressed in the 17-18 suite of indicators.

8.4 It should be noted that efficiencies measures and overall reductions in the 
levels of funding available along with increased competition within the fitness market 
are putting increases pressure on financial performance which is reflected within the 
financial performance indicators.

8.5 A summary of the overall performance can be seen in the table below.

Link4Life 2016-17 Performance Summary

On Target Within 5% 95% or below

  

Page 46



Page | 16 

Corporate Health and 
Compliance 2 1 1

Financial 1 2 3

Sport and Leisure 9 3 7

Culture 11 0 5

Health and Participation 20 2 2

43 8 18

Link4Life 62.32% 11.59% 26.09%

9 Financial Implications

9.1 The Partnership Agreement between the Council and the Trust includes a 
Payment Mechanism with a formula, which provides for deductions from the agreed 
Contract Fee in the event of non-performance by the Trust. The Payment Mechanism 
calculations are undertaken once year-end accounts are finalised.

10 Legal Implications

10.1 There are no specific legal implications arising from this report.

11 Personnel Implications

11.1 There are no personnel implications for the Council arising from this report.

12 Corporate Priorities

12.1 Link4Life is a member of the Public Service Reform (PSR) Board working in close 
partnership with theme leads to contribute to the programme’s 5 priorities - ‘Early 
Years’, ‘Health & Social Care’, ‘Stronger Families’, ‘Transforming Justice’ and ‘Work & 
Skills’. In addition, the Trust is also represented on the Children and Young People’s 
Partnership and the Rochdale Borough Safeguarding Boards and has engaged with 
the development of the Rochdale Borough Locality Plan and the development of 
Greater Manchester work to increase levels of physical activity and sport.

13 Risk Assessment Implications 

13.1 There are no specific risk issues for Members to consider arising from this report.

14 Equalities Impacts

14.1 Workforce Equality Impacts Assessment

Page 47



Page | 17 

There are no workforce equality issues arising from this report.

14.2 Equality/Community Impact Assessments

There are no equality/community issues arising from this report. Link4Life is committed 
to working in accordance with Rochdale Council’s Equality and Diversity Policy and 
believes that the services it delivers have a positive impact in addressing health 
inequalities and promoting the health and wellbeing of people who live, work and visit 
the borough

Background Papers
Document Place of Inspection
‘Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 
2016/17’ file

Link4Life Head Office, Floor 3, Number One 
Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale 
OL16 1ZZ

 

Page 48



APPENDIX ONE 2015-16 2016-17 Target TOTAL FINAL Direction
LINK4LIFE PERFORMANCE MONITORING

CORPORATE HEALTH AND COMPLIANCE

CHC1 The percentage of complaints upheld 52.00% 45.00% 35.02% J h

CHC2 Average number of days lost due to sickness absence 7.23 7 7.48 L i

CHC3 Percentage of staff recommending Link4Life as a place to work 65.00% 70.00% 68.30% K h

CHC4 Completion of Annual Health Check n/a To Complete Completed J

FINANCIAL -VALUE FOR MONEY

FIN1 Sport, Leisure & Civic venues - net cost per person (visit) £0.13 £0.19 £0.11 J h

FIN2 Arts and Heritage - net cost per person (visit) £13.02 £13.14 £17.40 L i

FIN3 New External Funding (restricted) Generated 418656 420000 £295,446 L i

FIN4 Total External Funding (restricted) as a % of management fee 38.74% 39% 37.98% K i

FIN5 % of management fee income over total revenue 34.58% 30.60% 31.30% K h

FIN6 Subsidy per Extra Card Holder £91.29 £92.00 £80.55 L i

SPORT, LEISURE, ENTERTAINMENT

SAL1 Total number of visits to Sport, Leisure and Entertainment Venues 1962094 2000000 1972900 K h

SAL2 Total number of juniors enrolled on  Link4LifeSwim Academy swimming lessons 2594 2650 2917 J h

SAL3 Total Number of Swims 211116 215000 207322 K i

SAL4 The % of children achieving Key Stage 2 (swim 25m) 45.80% 46.50% 43.24% L i

SAL5 Visits per 1000 population 9255.16 9433.96 9306.13 K h

SAL7 Total Number of Fitness Members 10572 10604 8928 L i

SAL8 % of Fitness members visiting in last three months NEW NEW 75.58%

SAL9 Rate of fitness membership attrition 3.68% 4.00% 2.26% J h

SAL10 YourLink4Life Card Holders (live) 4319 4500 5276 J h

SAL11 YourLink4Life Extra Card Holders 3317 3400 4195 J h

SAL12 Percentage of Extra cardholders from areas  10% >SOA areas 29.20% 30% 28.08% L i

SAL18 Customer survey result – satisfaction rating (Customer rating the level of satisfaction as Good or Excellent) 72.00% 74% 86.17% J h

SAL19 Customer Satisfaction - net promoter score 34.00% 35% 31% L i

SAL20 Active Lives Survey Sport England  % of population who are classified as inactive ( <30mins per week) NEW NEW 30.6%

P
age 49



SAL21 Visits - YourLink4Life Card Holders 136413 138000 175684 J h

SAL22 Visits - YourLink4Life Extra Card Holders 122810 124000 165689 J h

SAL24 New Corporate Members 1742 1750 1130

SAL25 Corporate Member Usage 239895 240000 184122

SLA26 Health Campaigns delivered in the Fitness Centres 3 4 3 L n

SFA27 School Holiday Programme Attendance 11228 12000 10951 L i

SFA28 Youth (12-16) Fitness Session Usage 60789 61000 56728 L i

SFA29 New Fitness Member Inductions 3458 3000 4612 J h

SFA30 Number of Fitness Member Boditrax Health Checks 5577 6000 14961 J h

CULTURE

AAH1 No of visitors to Touchstones Rochdale 48696 54,000 46341 L i

AAH2 The number of online visits 171709 175,000 185417 J h

AAH3 The number of those visits in person per 1,000 population 229.70 254.72 218.59 L i

AAH4 The number of pupils visiting Touchstones Rochdale 7324 7400 6665 L i

AAH5 The number of school children using the service outside of Touchstones Rochdale 9920 10000 9278 L i

AAH6 The number of children/young people (aged 0 - 25) engaged in organised projects or activities outside formal education4477 5000 5056 J h

AAH7 The number of adults taking part in organised projects/activities 10358 7,000 14655 J h

AAH8 The number of items documented 5294 5500 5852 J h

AAH9 Net Promoter Score 14.00% 16% 69% J h

AAH11 Customer survey result – satisfaction rating (Customer rating the level of satisfaction as Good or Excellent) 71.00% 73% 82.25% J h

AAH12 Visit England Quality Mark Achievement Achieved To Achieve Achieved J n

AAH13 No of Volunteers 100 102 J

AAH14 No of New Volunteers 10 29 J

AAH15 No of Volunteer Hours 2000 1694.85 L

AAH16 Number of schools using the actively engaging with the service 50 92 J

AAH17 Facilitation of Rochdale Boroughwide Cultural Forum To facilitate Completed J

P
age 50



HEALTH AND PARTICIPATION

SPA1 Number of Outreach Sessions delivered 471 600 903 J h

SPA2 Attendance at Community Outreach sessions (focus on participation) 7653 7700 13688 J h

SPA3 Number of active volunteers aged 16 to 25 years 36 40 39 K h

SPA4 Number of active volunteers aged 26+ 11 14 20 J h

Healthy Workforce Scheme (RMBC)

HWS1 Number of mini Health Checks completed 577 500 543 J i

HWS2 Number referred to GP or other health professional following mini health check 100 92 L

HWS3 Number of participants  in sports activities 571 500 604 J h

HWS4 Numbers attending well-being advice sessions 432 400 556 J h

Energy Club (Children’s Healthy Weight project)

EC1 Number of children aged 4 to 12 years engaged in programme 85 120 131 J h

EC2 % of children enrolled on 'Junior Skills' (follow on course) 80 118 J

EC3 % of children enrolled on programme who maintain or reduce BMI 80 85.33% J

EC4 Family swimming passes issued for completion of 12 week programme 90 68 K

Participation in health development actvities (targeted at health conditions e.g. Stroke, LTC's, Falls etc)

ACT1 No. of participants in community outreach activities 925 1000 1220 J h

ACT2 No. of activity sessions delivered 471 500 1018 J h

Healthy Workforce

HWLB1 Number of new businesses contacted 16 14 23 J h

HWLB2 Number of health related activities delivered by Link4Life 19 20 17 L i

HWLB3 Business signposted to other health agencies for health interventions 23 20 20 J i

Disability Sports Activities

DSA1 No. of participants in disability sports activities - children 315 250 349 J h

DSA2 No. of participants in disability sports activities   - adults 757 500 1044 J h

P
age 51



DSA6 Number of Talent ID events held (Schools) 17 12 13 J i

DSA7 Number of School pupils attending talent id events 760 500 608 J i

DSA8 Number of young people joining a sports club 122 100 131 J h

WEMWBS (Measure of Wellbeing- appropriate projects only)

WEM1 % of completing participants achieving 10% increase in wellbeing score 82.00% 80.00% 95.50% J h

WEM2 % of completing participants setting wellbeing-related goal 82.00% 80.00% 94.75% J h

P
age 52



Healthwatch Rochdale 1 
 

 

Healthwatch Rochdale 
Annual Report 2016/17 

 

Page 53

Agenda Item 8



Healthwatch Rochdale 2 
 

Contents 
 

 

Message from our Chair ................................................................................... 3 

Message from our Chief Executive Officer ............................................................ 4 

Highlights from  our year ................................................................................. 5 

Who we are .................................................................................................. 6 

Our Healthwatch Team: .................................................................................. 6 

Your views on health and care .......................................................................... 8 

Helping you find the answers ........................................................................... 10 

Making a difference together ........................................................................... 13 

How your experiences are helping influence change .............................................. 14 

How we’ve worked with our community ............................................................. 15 

It starts with you .......................................................................................... 16 

Our plans for next year .................................................................................. 18 

What next? ................................................................................................. 19 

Our people .................................................................................................. 20 

Our finances ................................................................................................ 22 

Contact us .................................................................................................. 24 

 

 

  

Page 54



Healthwatch Rochdale 3 
 

Message from our Chair 
 

 

 

 

 

This is my second report as 
Chair of Healthwatch 
Rochdale, a role I am proud to 
serve in.   

The Board has continued to develop with 

new members joining us.  Unfortunately 

though we have said goodbye to two of our 

long-standing members, Christine Mullens 

and Mohammed Sawar, due to their work 

commitments. We thank them for their 

valuable contribution especially during the 

period when we moved from a private host 

organisation.  

The past year has seen many changes to our 

health and social care systems, not least 

those brought about by Devolution of 

Greater Manchester.  Although the 

Devolution programme is important it is 

also important that we do not lose sight of 

those issues which matter to the people in 

the Rochdale Borough.  Our work 

programme for the next twelve months has 

been developed following consultation with 

residents to ensure that we address those 

issues which matter to you.  

We continue to develop our relationships 

with the Clinical Commissioning Group and 

the Local Authority. This year we have set 

up forums with Pennine Acute and Pennine 

Care which bring together senior managers 

of the Trusts and other local Healthwatch 

whose residents use these organisations for 

their care. This has been particularly 

important following the recent CQC (Care 

Quality Commission) reports of both 

organisations 

Our Enter & View programme has continued 

and the reports of these visits can be seen 

on our website.  Several of these visits have 

been prompted by your feedback, so do 

please continue to send this in.  

As Chair, I would like to thank Kate and her 

team for the excellent work they have done 

in the past year, helped by our many 

volunteers, who give up their time willingly 

to get involved. My thanks also go to my 

fellow Board members who are willing to 

give up their time for something which they 

care about.  

Jane Jackson 

Chair   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pictured above: Jane Jackson, Healthwatch Rochdale Chair 

  

Page 55



Healthwatch Rochdale 4 
 

Message from our Chief 
Executive Officer
 

 

 

 

 

Pictured above: Kate Jones, Healthwatch Rochdale CEO 

2016/2017 was a very successful 
year for Healthwatch Rochdale. 

We continued to support decision makers to 

build something simpler, more efficient, 

better focused on what people want, and 

more supportive of people and 

communities. With more work to do and 

less money to do it with, our challenge is to 

try and keep the decision makers focused 

on people.   

Our relationships with partner organisations 

are crucial, this year we have continued to 

support several key committees and 

meetings such as Health, Schools and Care 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 

Children’s & Adults Safeguarding Board, 

HMR CCG’s governing body.  

Greater Manchester Devolution hit the 

health and social care sector hard in 

February 2015 and over the last 12 month 

this fast-paced project has been at the 

forefront of the work here at Healthwatch 

Rochdale, with service redesign on a 

massive scale, Healthwatch Rochdale have 

worked to ensure the residents of Rochdale 

are involved and understand this service 

change that is ongoing. 

Healthwatch Rochdale have built strong 

relationships with voluntary and third 

sector organisations, ensuring that the 

voice of all communities are heard and 

information sharing is utilised. 

On a weekly basis, we provide 

information and signposting services to 

people who are lost in the maze of the 

health and social care system, it is easy 

to take for granted what we do as a staff 

team here at Healthwatch Rochdale, we 

support the residents of the Rochdale 

Borough and make a difference to 

individual lives.  

Enter and Views are now a key role within 

our workplan and through in depth trends 

analysis Healthwatch Rochdale ensures we 

draw on this statutory right to review 

service delivery and patient feedback. 

Healthwatch Rochdale’s pool of volunteers 

has grown, with further recruitment going 

ahead and residents signing up to support 

our organisation.  

The next 12 months for Healthwatch 

Rochdale is going to be challenging with 

budget cuts, increased service redesign and 

more organisations wanting to be involved 

in what we do. As always, we strive to 

deliver the best service for the Residents of 

the Rochdale Borough.  

Kate Jones,  

Chief Executive Officer

  

Page 56



Healthwatch Rochdale 5 
 

Highlights from  
our year 

This year  
we’ve reached over 100,000 
people on 
social media 

Our volunteers help us with 
everything from Enter and 
View to office administration 

We’ve carried out 2 Enter and 
View Visits at local services 

Our reports have tackled 
issues ranging from unsafe 
discharge from hospital to 
awareness of the Heywood, 
Middleton and Rochdale GP 7-
day access service 

We’ve spoken to over 100 
young  people on Health and 
Social Care services. 

We’ve met hundreds of local 
people at our community  
events 

Page 57



Healthwatch Rochdale 6 
 

 

Who we are
We know that you want services 
that work for you, your friends and 
family. That’s why we want you to 
share your experiences of using 
health and care services with us. 
We use your voice to encourage 
those who run services to act on 

what matters to you. 

Mission Statement 

Healthwatch is a government initiative and 

every Borough in the country has a 

Healthwatch of its own. 

A statutory role of Healthwatch is to gather 

feedback from the general public about 

their experiences of Health and Social Care 

Services. At Healthwatch Rochdale the 

feedback is put onto a database and 

matched up with other people’s feedback. 

Healthwatch Rochdale helps you find out 

what Health and Social Care services are 

available locally, so you can make an 

informed choice about your care.  

Healthwatch Rochdale is the independent 

consumer watchdog set up to collect 

information and represent the views of the 

public on health and social care. 

Healthwatch Rochdale is here to give 

patients, service users and local people an 

opportunity to influence and challenge the 

way your local health services are run. 

Healthwatch Rochdale has a legal right to 

‘Enter and View’ any public funded 

organisation announced or unannounced, 

with enough evidence from the general 

public. 

Our Healthwatch Team: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Kate Jones 

Chief Executive Officer 

Alexander Leach 

Operations Manager 

Elaine Grace 

Engagement and Volunteer Manager 

Claire Birch 

Communications Officer 

Page 58



Healthwatch Rochdale 7 
 

Healthwatch Rochdale Values 

Independent 

We are independent and act on behalf of 

all local people. We challenge and hold to 

account the local health and care services. 

Inclusive 

We start with local people first. We work 

for everyone and try our best to represent 

the views of everyone that uses any health 

service in Rochdale. 

Collaborative 

We work with others locally, regionally and 

nationally and we learn from people’s 

experiences. 

Responsive 

We take what we know and then translate 

it into actions that improve your local 

services. 

Credible 

We hold ourselves to the highest standards 

through openness and frank discussions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Key Priorities 

Every voice counts 

We recognise Rochdale borough is a diverse 

community and so through innovative 

engagement we will empower people across 

the Rochdale Borough to provide feedback 

on Health and Social Care services. 

Looking after our people 

We value all our people and commit to 

support, develop and train staff and 

volunteers to deliver on the core statutory 

functions of Healthwatch Rochdale. 

Improving infrastructure 

We will review and invest in our 

infrastructure to ensure continuous 

improvements so that we can deliver the 

best services for the people of Rochdale. 

Liaise with local, regional and national 

stakeholders 

We will partner with stakeholders to raise 

awareness of Healthwatch Rochdale and 

share relevant information. 

Remain viable and sustainable 

Healthwatch Rochdale will provide value 

for money and will work effectively within 

budget. We will look for opportunities for 

income generation and ensure financial 

probity. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 59



Healthwatch Rochdale 8 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Your views on  
health and care 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 60



Healthwatch Rochdale 9 
 

  

Listening to local people’s 
views 

Throughout the year, we have 
spoken to residents and service 
users to find out what matters to 
them.  

Our 360◦ review carried out in Autumn 2016 

told us that you want us to concentrate on 

GP surgeries, services delivered by Pennine 

Acute Hospitals NHS Trust and Pennine Care 

NHS Foundation Trust.  This has formed the 

foundations for the work being carried out 

throughout 2017 – 18.  Throughout the year, 

2016 – 2017 we worked alongside other 

agencies, such as; 

 Hopwood Hall College, Rochdale 

Youth Service and Rochdale Young 

Advisors. This was to highlight issues 

and areas of good practice 

experienced by young people (under 

25’s). This work showed that under 

25’s were as unaware of the 7 day 

access to a GP services as the rest of 

the local community. 

 New monthly Drop in sessions at 

Castlemere Community Centre and 

BACP (Bangladesh Association of 

Community Projects) in order to 

engage with local residents from 

BAME communities: 

 Those from ‘hard to reach 

communities’ such as those with 

learning disabilities, those with 

Dementia and those with mental 

health issues were engaged through 

‘Listening Events’ held throughout 

the year. 

  

 

 

Overall, feedback received from Young 

People (under25) was predominantly 

positive.  The graph below shows that 59% 

of young people were happy with the 

service they received. Some of the 

feedback received was mixed with both 

positive and negative elements. 

 

Table 1. Feedback received from under 25’s 

Authorised Representatives from 

Healthwatch Rochdale carried out 2 Enter 

and Views over the year:  

 Healthwatch Rochdale carried out an 

unannounced visit at Rochdale 

Infirmary Urgent Care Centre to 

follow up on their visit in February 

2016. 

 Healthwatch Rochdale received 

intelligence around Beechwood 

Lodge care home residents’ family 

members and local statutory 

organisations, which led to an 

unannounced visit in January 2017 

Enter and View Authorised 
Representatives for 2016 – 17 
were: 

 Jane Jackson 

 Kate Jones 

 Alex Leach 

 Claire Birch 

 Monica Oliver 

 Jennifer Barrett 

 David Logan 

Positive, 75

Mixed, 7

Negative, 45

Page 61



Healthwatch Rochdale 10 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Helping  
you find the  
answers 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 62



 

Healthwatch Rochdale 11 
 

How we have helped the 
community access the care 
they need 

Healthwatch Rochdale provide residents 

with information about local health and 

social care services and how to access 

them. We signpost residents to relevant 

organisations and make referrals to an 

Independent NHS Complaints Advocate for 

those wanting help in making a complaint 

about an NHS Service. Over the last 12 

months Healthwatch Rochdale referred 41 

people for help making a complaint about 

the NHS 

We signposted 108 people to over 31 

different services through 2016/17 

As well as the NHS Independent Complaints 

Advocacy Service, some of the other 

organisations/ services signposted to 

include: 

 Alzheimer’s Society 

 Big Life Group 

 Books on prescription 

 GP Seven Day Access Service 

 Healthy Minds 

 Home Start 

 Kooth 

 Recovery Republic 

 Rochdale Metropolitan Borough 

Council 

 Rochdale and District Mind 

 SENDIASS Team 

 

 

Heywood Middleton Rochdale 
GP and Nurse Seven Day Access 
Service 

The seven-day access service allows 

patients to have access to a GP or a nurse 

at the weekend, evenings and on bank 

holidays. The service is available at four 

different hubs; one hub in each township. 

The service is designed to give patients 

more flexibility and allow those who find it 

hard to get to the doctors during the week 

to have access to a GP or a nurse. 

Healthwatch Rochdale conducted a survey 

to gather residents’ views on the service in 

which 495 people took part. The survey 

revealed that 66% of respondents were not 

aware of the service and there were 3 main 

barriers to accessing the service; location 

of the service, language barriers and poor 

communication between staff and patients 

and low awareness of the service. This 

information was shared with Heywood, 

Middleton and Rochdale Clinical 

Commissioning Group to enable them to 

improve the service according to patient’s 

needs. 

Whilst out in the community listening to 

resident’s experiences of health and social 

care services; Healthwatch Rochdale has 

been helping to raise awareness of the 

Seven Day Access Service and advising 

residents on how to make an appointment. 

Information about the service has also been 

included in presentations to Hopwood Hall 

College and community groups.  

Healthwatch Rochdale has also raised 

awareness of the service using social media 

especially around bank holiday weekends to 

remind patients they have access to a GP 

over the three-day period.  

Page 63



 

Healthwatch Rochdale 12 
 

Case Study 1 

A local resident spoke to Healthwatch 

Rochdale asking about their options after 

being told they were no longer allowed to 

use the GP seven day access service. The 

patient explained that they suffered from 

extreme anxiety issues and visiting the GP 

led to an increase in their anxiety levels. 

After frequent none attendance to pre 

booked appointments the patient was told 

she could no longer can use the service. 

The patient telephoned Healthwatch 

Rochdale for advice and information on how 

to regain access to the service, explaining 

that the none attendence of appointments 

was due to high anxiety levels.  

As the local independent voice working to 

empower residents of the Rochdale Borough 

to influence and challenge how health and 

social care services are provided, 

Healthwatch Rochdale spoke to the Seven 

Day Access Service provider informing them 

of the patients anxiety issues. 

Absolutely brilliant service. I can’t 

thank you enough for helping me to get 

access to the GP Seven Day Access 

Service.  

Local resident 

Once the service provider was aware of the 

anxiety issues they were able to take this 

into account and understand why the 

patient kept failing to attend 

appointments. The provider took the 

patients anxiety issues into consideration 

and made the decision to restore full access 

of the GP Seven Day Access Service to the 

patient with the ability to make 

appointments when needed. 

Case Study 2 

Healthwatch Rochdale received an enquiry 

earlier in the year regarding commercial                              

organisations using the NHS logo.  Many 

residents contacted the office enquiring 

how a private company had accessed their 

address details enabling them to send 

marketing materials about opticians 

offering home sight tests with the NHS logo 

clearly visible.  Healthwatch Rochdale sent 

a letter to The Outside Clinic asking for 

clarification regarding the marketing 

materials received. 

The Outside Clinic responded and informed 

Healthwatch Rochdale that they “purchase 

mailing lists to identify potential users and 

we will send information regarding our 

services to the people contained on these 

lists. We can confirm we have a contract 

with the NHS to provide a domiciliary 

optical service to qualifying housebound 

patients and this permits us to use NHS 

identity on our information. Details of this 

qualification can be found on our website 

www.outsideclinic.co.uk” 

The response received by Healthwatch 

Rochdale pointed out that residents can 

register with the Mailing Preference 

Services (MPS) which is a central register to 

ensure that details are not passed onto any 

other organisations. Their address is:                              

Mailing Preference Service, MPS Freepost 

LON20771, London, W1E 0ZT or by 

registering on www.mpsonline.org.uk. 

 

 

 

  

Page 64



 

Healthwatch Rochdale 13 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Making a  
difference  
together 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 65



 

Healthwatch Rochdale 14 
 

How your 
experiences 
are helping 
influence 
change 
Over the year Healthwatch Rochdale 

published various Project Reports and Enter 

and View Reports which are available on 

our website.  From these Healthwatch 

Rochdale make a number of 

recommendations to suggest how services 

for Health and Social Care may be 

improved, such as: 

 Informing departments, partners and 

patients more effectively on services 

Rochdale Infirmary Urgent Care 

Centre provide. (Enter and View 

Report, Rochdale Infirmary 

21/10/96) 

 Produce up to date training 

matrix/log to enable effective 

tracking of training dates for staff 

members, (Enter and View Report, 

Beechwood Lodge Care Home 

13/1/17) 

Other reports can be found on our website 

www.healthwatchrochdale.org.uk/reports/  

Working with other 
organisations 

Throughout the year staff and volunteers 

from Healthwatch Rochdale worked 

alongside many partner agencies such as 

the HMR Caring Together Network, 

attended on a regular  

basis by Care Home staff together with the 

Medicines Optimisation Team (HMR CCG),  

Mental Health Outreach Nurse together 

with a Bladder and Bowel Specialist Nurse.  

This network supports care homes from 

across the Borough to access advice and 

support they need on an ongoing basis. 

 

Working with partners such as this and 

many others allows information and 

evidence to be shared and for 

improvements in practice to be shared. 

Healthwatch Rochdale carries out this 

collaborative method of working across 

many other partners, including the Care 

Quality Commission (CQC), for example; 

 

 Healthwatch Rochdale hold quarterly 

meetings with the Inspection 

Manager of the CQC to discuss 

intelligence and enter and view visits  

 Feedback from service users and 

family members together with 

information from the CQC was key to 

the decision to carry out an 

unannounced Enter and View at 

Beechwood Lodge Care Home on 13th 

January, 2017. 

 

 

Page 66

http://www.healthwatchrochdale.org.uk/reports/


 

Healthwatch Rochdale 15 
 

 How we’ve 
worked 
with our   
community 
Healthwatch Rochdale have 
supported the involvement of local 
people in the work we do through 
the ongoing volunteer program.   

The roles volunteers carry out are:  

 

 Board Members 

 Engagement Support Volunteers 

 Admin Support 

 Enter and View 

 Marketing and Publicity   

Through 2016 – 17 volunteers were 

recruited and trained to undertake the 

‘Enter and View’ work.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This training includes ‘An Introduction to 

Healthwatch Rochdale’ ‘Enter and View’ 

training and safeguarding training for both 

children and adults.  All training is 

delivered prior to Enter and View 

Volunteers starting with visits.  

Other training is given to the variety of 

volunteers, such as Gathering Feedback and 

Locality training which offers advice and 

guidance on how to successfully obtain 

feedback from people and also the Health 

and Social Care landscape and how they fit 

and work (or don’t) together. 

Engagement Support Volunteers have 

supported us at Drop In Sessions across the 

Borough as well as the Feedback Events 

carried out with partner organisations held 

throughout the year.  

This training developed and delivered in 

house is complemented through access to 

external training courses such as the 

comprehensive training offered by the 

Rochdale Children’s Safeguarding Board and 

the Rochdale Adults Safeguarding Board as 

well as others.   

 

Page 67



 

Healthwatch Rochdale 16 
 

  

 

 

 

It starts 
with you 
 

  

Page 68



 

Healthwatch Rochdale 17 
 

#It Starts 
With You 
Healthwatch Rochdale understand and 

identify what residents want and need by 

listening to their experiences of health and 

social care services. 

Sharing feedback with us helps to build a 

picture of where services are doing well 

and where they can be improved, enabling 

us to make recommendations for change. 

Sharing your views helps to ensure Health 

and Social care services are delivered to 

the standard that you expect.  

Beechwood Lodge Care Home 

Thanks to your feedback, recommendations 

for improvement were made to Beechwood 

Lodge Care Home.  

Two sisters came into the Healthwatch 

Rochdale office and spoke of their concerns 

about the quality of their mother’s care at 

Beechwood Lodge Care Home. Their mother 

was suffering with Vascular Dementia and 

had been placed at Beechwood Lodge 

because it was advertised as providing 

expert specialised dementia care. 

The two sisters were concerned about a 

lack of communication from staff and 

managers and wanted to know 

 

 What does expert specialised 

dementia care consist of? 

 What training staff have received to 

provide this?  

Healthwatch Rochdale decided to carry out 

an unannounced Enter and View visit at 

Beechwood Lodge to observe the nature 

and quality of care and to listen to the 

experiences of residents and their families 

as well as the views of staff members.  

On the Enter and View visit authorised 

representatives observed good practice but 

also identified areas of improvement that 

would help to raise the standard of care 

and service at Beechwood Lodge.  

“Manager appears to know 

residents well and by name. 

Appears to have a good rapport 

with all residents she spoke to” 

Enter and View observation            

Recommendations included: 

 Produce an up to date training 

matrix to enable effective tracking 

of training dates for staff members 

 Review activities within the home to 

ensure activities are catered for 

residents needs and abilities. 

 Review patient and visitor’s 

questionnaire to enable review of 

positive or negative information. 

 Continue to provide good and 

effective care whilst maintaining a 

great relationship that Beechwood 

Lodge care home staff have with the 

residents.  

“Thank you all for visiting and we 

will take the recommendations on 

board. Your visit was welcomed 

and all the staff and residents 

found you all very nice and caring” 

Care Home manager  

 

 

Page 69



 

Healthwatch Rochdale 18 
 

 

 

 

 

Our plans 
for next 
year 

Page 70



 

Healthwatch Rochdale 19 
 

What next? 
Healthwatch Rochdale carried 
out a public consultation to 
determine the key topic areas 
of work from April 2017 to 
March 2018. 

Feedback received throughout the previous 

year was collated to highlight key trends, 

forming the basis of the topic areas that 

went out for public consultation. 

The topic areas that went out for public 

consultation were: 

 Access to Services 

 Fit for purpose 

 Quality of Care 

 Safeguarding 

 Pennine Acute Hospital Trust 

 Greater Manchester Devolution 

 Community Services 

 Children’s Services 

 GP Services 

 Care Homes 

 Disability 

 Youth Services 

 Hospital Services 

 Communication 

 Social Care Complaints Pathway 

 Homelessness 

 

 

 

Following public consultation the top 4 

topic areas chosen by Rochdale Borough 

residents were : 

Pennine Acute Hospitals Trust 

Access to Services 

Primary Care – GP 

Quality of Care 

 

Over the next twelve months Healthwatch 

Rochdale will focus on the four key topic 

areas in the following ways : 

 Use Healthwatch Rochdale’s 

statutory powers to Enter and View 

twelve different GP practices in the 

Borough 

 Conduct surveys to gather specific 

feedback on particular services 

 Work closely with Pennine Acute 

Hospitals Trust to scrutinise ongoing 

work and changes happening within 

the Trust, always ensuring the 

patients voice is heard 

Healthwatch Rochdale will continue to 

gather feedback from local residents and 

seldom heard groups including : 

 BAME 

 Mental Health 

 Older People 

 Youth 

 Disability 

 

  

Page 71



 

Healthwatch Rochdale 20 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Our people 
 

  

Page 72



 

Healthwatch Rochdale 21 
 

Decision making 

The role of the Board is to help determine 

the strategic direction of Healthwatch 

Rochdale and to ensure it provides a 

representative voice for as many users of 

health and social care services in the 

Borough as possible. 

 

At the board meetings, members review 

intelligence on a monthly basis and in 

partnership with the Chief Executive 

Officer make decisions on how to address 

concerns and feedback trends through 

escalations and Enter and views.  

How we involve the public  
and volunteers 

We involved members of the local 

community and volunteers in the work we 

do by: 

 We recruit Board Members from 

members of the local community 

who have the right skills and 

experience to take responsibility and 

run the organisation 

 We recruit Enter and View volunteers 

representative of the local 

community who, after training, can 

take part in ‘Enter and View’ visits. 

which can be undertaken in many 

publicly funded services such as 

hospitals, care homes and GP 

surgeries 

 We regularly recruit other volunteers 

such as engagement support 

volunteers, administration, publicity 

and Ambassadors. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 73



 

Healthwatch Rochdale 22 
 

  

 

 

 

 

Our finances 
 

  

Page 74



 

Healthwatch Rochdale 23 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Income £ 

Funding received from local authority to deliver local 

Healthwatch statutory activities 

156,067.57 

Additional income  7,150.00 

Total income 163,217.57 

  

Expenditure  

Operational costs 46,328.00 

Staffing costs 103,369.58 

Total expenditure 149,697.58 

Balance brought forward 13,519.99 

Page 75



 

Healthwatch Rochdale 24 
 

Contact us

 

Get in touch 

 

Address:  

Unique Enterprise Centre 

Belfield Road 

Rochdale 

OL16 2UP 

 

Phone number: 01706 249575 

 

Email: info@healthwatchrochdale.org.uk 

 

Website: www.healthwatchrochdale.org.uk 

 

Twitter: @HWRochdale 

 

Facebook: Healthwatch Rochdale 

 

Linkedin: Healthwatch Rochdale 

 

Youtube: Healthwatch Rochdale 

 

 

 

We will be making this annual report publicly available on 30 June 2017 by publishing it on our 

website and sharing it with Healthwatch England, CQC, NHS England, Clinical Commissioning 

Group/s, Overview and Scrutiny Committee/s, and our local authority. 

 

We confirm that we are using the Healthwatch Trademark (which covers the logo and 

Healthwatch brand) when undertaking work on our statutory activities as covered by the 

licence agreement. 

 

If you require this report in an alternative format please contact us at the address above.  

 

© Copyright Healthwatch Rochdale 2017 

Healthwatch Rochdale LTD. Registered Company Number 08429721 

Page 76

mailto:info@healthwatchrochdale.org.uk
http://www.healthwatchrochdale.org.uk/


Report to Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date of Meeting 27th July 2017
Portfolio Cabinet Member for Adult 

Care, Cabinet Member for 
Children's Services

Report Author Carolyn Whitham
Public/Private Document Public

4th Quarter Social Care Complaints

Executive Summary

1. The report provides Members with a summary of Adult and Children’s Social 
Care complaints and compliments received during the fourth quarter of 
2016/17.

Recommendation

2. It is recommended that Members of the Committee consider and scrutinise the 
information contained in the report and assess whether further information or 
explanation is required regarding any of the issues raised in the report.

Reason for Recommendation

3. Part of the Council’s performance management process is to ensure the
Authority’s ambition to continuously improve services is realised, and actions 
or decisions may need to be taken to maintain improvement.

Key Points for Consideration

4. Appendix 1 to the report provides a brief commentary relating to complaints 
dealt with under the relevant complaints procedure by Adult Social Care and 
Children’s Social Care Services during the 4th quarter 2016/17. 

Appendix 1 also includes examples of how an individual complaint has been 
dealt with from receipt to resolution as requested by Members at a previous 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting.

Appendix 2 provides details of complaints in graph form.  The format of the 
report includes information on trends, and the graphs are expanded to display 
trend analysis for each quarter throughout the year.  

Adult Social Care complaint figures will also include details of any complaints 
regarding financial assessments received during the reporting period.  This is 

Page 77

Agenda Item 9



4.1

a function carried out by the Revenues and Benefits Service.  

The Customer Feedback Team are working with services to improve the 
quality of information recorded, and to ensure lessons are being learnt from 
complaints and action taken is recorded and reported.  

To improve complaints monitoring, the Customer Feedback Team also 
provides weekly status reports to Assistant Directors to enable closer 
monitoring of current complaints.  

Alternatives Considered

None.  Information has been compiled from the complaints recording system 
which is used to record complaints and compliments received by social care 
services.

Costs and Budget Summary

5. None of the complaints received in this quarter had financial implications.

Complaints considered at stage two of the Children’s Social Care complaints 
procedure have financial implications due to the statutory requirement to 
appoint an external Independent Person and in some cases an external 
Investigating Officer.  All costs associated with Children’s Social Care 
complaints incurred throughout the year are included in the Children’s Social 
Care Annual Complaints Report.

Risk and Policy Implications

There are no specific risk issues for Members to consider arising from this 
report.

Complainants have the opportunity to refer their complaint to the Local 
Government Ombudsman for up to twelve months from completion of the 
Council’s complaints process; therefore there is a risk that the outcome of a 
future Ombudsman investigation into a complaint may result in a 
recommended financial remedy.  Complaints considered by the Ombudsman 
are reported to Overview and Scrutiny Committee annually on receipt of the 
Ombudsman’s annual report.

6.

Consultation

7. Not applicable.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. None

Page 78



For Further Information Contact: Carolyn Whitham, Tel: 01706 923508, 
carolyn.whitham@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 79



1

Appendix 1
Complaint Statistics

Adult Social Care

In June 2007 the Department of Health provided a set of proposals to unify and 
reform the current arrangements for making complaints across Health and Adult 
Social Care; ‘Making Experiences Count.’ As well as fulfilling the commitment in 'Our 
Health, Our Care, Our Say', it proposed a radical new approach to complaints 
handling which is more flexible and supports organisational learning. 
The formalised guidance for the new arrangements was published on 25 February 
2009; ‘Listening, Responding, Improving’ and the Regulations were laid before 
Parliament on 27 February 2009 for councils and health organisations to implement 
from 1 April 2009. 
These Regulations enshrine a duty to co-operate with health partners in relation to 
complaints that cut across Health and Social Care Services.
The Council introduced a joint complaints process for dealing with Health and Adult 
social care complaints from 1 April 2009.  It relates to concerns received from this 
date onwards and is in line with the Making Experiences Count initiative.  
Where a complaint is received about Adult Social Care Services functions or functions 
of any party to the Joint Protocol (i.e. Health Partners) the organisation which 
receives the complaint handles the co-ordination of the complaint.   
The process for dealing with Adult Social Care complaints is a one stage process.  If 
the complainant remains dissatisfied with the outcome of their complaint they may 
refer their concerns for consideration by the Local Government Ombudsman.
Not all complaints received by Adult Care are eligible to be considered under the 
statutory procedure, and where a complaint does not meet the criteria, it will be 
considered under the Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure.  Details of Adult 
Care complaints considered under both procedures will be included in this report.
6 new complaints were received by Adult Care Services during the fourth quarter.  
Details of these complaints and their outcomes can be found below.

The types of complaints received

6 new complaints were received during this quarter 

1 complaint was upheld:
 1 Handling of safeguarding investigation

2 complaints were partially upheld:
 1 Home Improvement Agency works to property
 1 Lack of response to written communication

2 complaints were not upheld.

1 complaint was withdrawn.

Page 80

http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Managingyourorganisation/Legalandcontractual/Complaintspolicy/MakingExperiencesCount/index.htm
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_095408
http://www.opsi.gov.uk/si/si2009/uksi_20090309_en_1


2

Appendix 1
Action Taken and Lessons Learned

A number of actions were taken in response to the complaint regarding the 
management of a safeguarding investigation including:

 A formal apology to the family.
 Guidance notes about recording and passing on information resent to all admin 

staff and discussed in 1 to 1 meetings and team meetings.
 Programme of improvement put in place to improve safeguarding enquiry 

practice to ensure enquiries are completed in a timely fashion.
 Individual issues to be addressed with the employees involved through the 

Council's internal procedures.
 All Advanced Practitioners and Managers briefed to ensure they follow the 

safeguarding policy and procedures and take responsibility for having an 
overview of any safeguarding episode when they are the named Safeguarding 
Adult Manager.

 All Safeguarding Adult Managers to ensure they are aware that there is an 
expectation that they record updates and progress of an enquiry on the case 
recording system.

 Enquiry Practitioners to ensure the Safeguarding Adult Manager is 
appropriately briefed prior to meeting with service users or family members.

Following the partially upheld complaint regarding works undertaken by the Home 
Improvement Agency, the service wrote to all contractors who undertake this type of 
work to remind them that the scope of works should be discussed fully with service 
users at the commencement of works.  All works were completed by an agreed date 
and Technical Officers ensured that all works were completed to a satisfactory 
standard.

In response to the complaint regarding a lack of response to written communication to 
the service, arrangements were made for a carer’s assessment to be undertaken.

Timescales

There is no statutory timescale for dealing with Adult Social Care complaints, and the 
timescale is agreed between the Investigator and the complainant in each case.  
However, the aim is to complete investigations within 25 working days. The average 
time taken to deal with Adult Care complaints during the fourth quarter was 27.6 
working days which was slightly over target.  This was due to a delay in responding to 
one complaint which was subsequently not upheld as the issues were dealt with 
under safeguarding procedures.

Complaint Example

The following is an example of a how an Adult Social Care complaint has been dealt 
with from receipt to resolution.

Complaint

Concerns were raised with Adult Care Service relating to the management of a 
safeguarding investigation.  The Team Manager met with the complainants to discuss 

Page 81



3

Appendix 1
their concerns with a view to reaching a resolution and resolving the complaint 
informally, however, the complainants remained dissatisfied and the complaint was 
registered as a formal complaint.

The Head of Service was appointed as Investigating Officer and arranged to meet 
with the complainants to discuss their points of complaint and desired outcome.  A 
timescale for the investigation was agreed and an action plan was completed, a copy 
of which was sent to the complainants.

An investigation was undertaken into the issues raised, which included meeting with 
relevant officers and reviewing information held on the case file.  The investigation 
was completed within timescale, and the complaint was found to be upheld.  An 
investigation report was produced detailing the findings and learning from the 
complaint, and a copy of the report, together with a letter of response was provided to 
the complainant. 

A number of recommendations for service improvement were implemented following 
the investigation, details of which are included under ‘Lessons Learned’ above.

Compliments

Compliments received from service users are also recorded and shared with staff.  
During the fourth quarter 13 compliments were recorded for Adult Care Services, a 
breakdown and examples of which can be found below.

Team/Service Area No. Compliment received from
STARS 5 Service User (5)

STARS Plus Team 5 Service User (3)
Relative of Service User (2)

Assessment & Support Team 2 Service user (1)
Relative of Service User (1)

Emergency Duty Team 1 Professional

“To everyone at STARS, thank you for all your help and advice following my stay in 
hospital it was appreciated and I am very grateful for your help.” 

“The service user would like to thank you for your support in managing this difficult 
situation.  You were very supportive and put her mind at rest and made the referral 
manageable.  She would just like you to know you did a great job.”  

“We would like to say a big "THANK YOU" for all your care and help during this 
difficult time for us.  You are all a "GREAT" team and do a very worthwhile job.  Many 
thanks again.”

Page 82



4

Appendix 1
Children’s Social Care

Changes were made to the children’s social services representations procedure as a 
result of the Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000, Adoption and Children Act 2002 and 
the Health and Social Care (Community Health and Standards) Act 2003.

Complaints are dealt with in accordance with The Children Act 1989 Representations 
Procedure (England) Regulations 2006. 

The handling and consideration of complaints under this procedure consists of three 
stages: 
Stage 1 - Local Resolution
Stage 2 - Investigation 
Stage 3 - Review Panel 

Local Resolution requires the local authority to resolve a complaint as close to the 
point of contact with the child or young person as possible (i.e. through front line 
management of the service). In doing so the local authority should consider the 
wishes of the complainant about how the complaint should be dealt with. In most 
circumstances complaints should be considered at Stage 1 in the first instance.

Consideration of complaints at Stage 2 is normally achieved through an investigation 
conducted by an investigating officer and an independent person. Stage 2 
commences either when the complainant requests it after an investigation at Stage 1, 
or where the complainant and the local authority have agreed that Stage 1 is not 
appropriate.

Where Stage 2 of the complaints procedure has been concluded and the complainant 
is still dissatisfied, he/she will be eligible to request further consideration of the 
complaint by a Review Panel. It is not possible to review a complaint that has not yet 
been fully considered at Stage 2 (including providing the reports and adjudication to 
the complainant). 

Following the conclusion of all three stages of the complaints process, if the 
complainant remains dissatisfied with the outcome of their complaint they may refer 
their concerns for consideration by the Local Government Ombudsman.
Information relating to Children’s Social Care complaints is available on the Council’s 
website, and leaflets providing full details of the complaints process and how to raise 
concerns are provided as required.  The Children’s Rights Service has also 
developed complaints leaflets specifically for children in care.
Not all complaints received by Children’s Social Care are eligible to be considered 
under the statutory procedure, and where a complaint does not meet the criteria, it will 
be considered under the Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure.  Details of 
complaints considered under both procedures will be included in this report.  
The number of complaints received by Children’s Services reduced for the second 
quarter in succession from 11 in quarter three to 8 in this quarter.  Of the 8 new 
complaints received, 6 were dealt with under the statutory Children’s Social Care 
complaints procedure and 2 were dealt with under the Council’s Corporate 
Complaints Procedure.   As can be seen from the graphs in appendix 2, the highest 
number of complaints received related to lack of communication; however, 2 of the 4 
complaints received were not upheld.  1 complaint was partially upheld, and the other 

Page 83



5

Appendix 1
complaint was subsequently withdrawn. Details of the complaints and their outcomes 
can be found below.

The types of complaints received

8 new complaints were considered at stage one

4 complaints were partially upheld:
 1 CSC involvement with grandchildren
 1 Management of Looked After Child (LAC) review meeting
 1 Lack of information provided re CSC involvement with daughter
 1 Involvement of Youth Offending Service (corporate complaint)

3 complaints were not upheld (including 1 corporate complaint)

1 complaint was withdrawn

2 complaints were received at stage two

1 of the stage two complaints is being dealt with under the Corporate Complaints 
Procedure. The investigations into both of these complaints are still ongoing.

Action Taken and Lessons Learned

The investigation into the complaint regarding CSC involvement with the 
complainant’s grandchildren found one point of complaint to be upheld relating to a 
telephone conversation between the complainant and the Social Worker.  An apology 
was given, and the issue was discussed with the Social Worker concerned. The 
remaining points of complaint were not upheld.

Following the complaint regarding the management of a LAC review meeting, an 
apology was given for a delay in dealing with the complaint.  The concerns raised 
were addressed and an explanation was provided for the way in which the meeting 
was conducted.  In future if a care plan is changed by the court this will be discussed 
and the service will consider a change of Independent Reviewing Officer and try to 
seek the views of the parents and carers to ensure appropriate arrangements are in 
place.

Further to the complaint regarding a lack of information being provided to a parent, an 
apology was given that the complainant hadn’t been provided with more information 
or included in earlier discussions.  The complainant was invited to attend future 
meetings, and the current Social Worker remained in contact to provide updates and 
information.  The Social Worker also offered to meet with the complainant to discuss 
any concerns.

The investigation into the complaint regarding the Youth Offending Service found only 
one point of complaint to be upheld which related to a delay in returning a telephone 
call.  An apology was given for this point.

Page 84



6

Appendix 1
Timescales

There are statutory timescales for dealing with Children’s Social Care complaints at 
each stage of the process.  Every attempt is made to resolve complaints within the 
initial timescale; however, the regulations allow the timescale for each stage to be 
extended in consultation with the complainant.

Stage 1 10 working days (can be extended to up to a maximum of 20 working 
days)

Stage 2 25 working days (can be extended up to a maximum of 65 working 
days)

Stage 3 Acknowledgement within 2 working days, review to be held within 30 
working days.

5 of the complaints received during this quarter were dealt with under the statutory 
Social Care complaints procedure at stage one, all of which were responded to within 
the statutory timescale.  

Complaint Example

The following is an example of a how a Children’s Social Care complaint has been 
dealt with from receipt to resolution.

Stage one complaint

A parent contacted the Customer Feedback Team by telephone to raise concerns 
relating to a lack of communication from Children’s Social Care about the service’s 
involvement with his daughter.  The complaint was registered at stage one of the 
complaints procedure and passed to the service to be allocated to an Investigating 
Officer.  The complainant was provided with details of the complaints procedure and 
advised of the timescale in which he could expect to receive a response.

A full investigation took place into the points raised, which included the Investigating 
Officer meeting with the current and previous manager and workers involved with the 
case.  A review of the case file was also undertaken.

The Investigating Officer considered that more information in respect of the service’s 
role and rationale should have been provided to the complainant earlier on in the 
process, and these points of complaint were upheld. However, some of the concerns 
raised related to a different organisation, or to concerns that would need to be 
addressed via a legal route and these points were not upheld, giving an overall finding 
of partially upheld.

A written response was provided addressing each of the points of complaint, which 
included an explanation and rationale for how decisions had been made.  An apology 
was provided that more information had not been provided to the complainant earlier 
in the process, and arrangements were made for the Social Worker to meet with the 
complainant to discuss the current situation and offer further advice.  The 
Investigating Officer also provided contact details should the complainant wish to 
discuss any aspect of the response.

Page 85



7

Appendix 1
The complainant was satisfied with the response and the complaint was resolved at 
this stage.

Details of the outcome of this complaint are also included under the ‘Lessons 
Learned’ section above.

Compliments

Compliments received from service users are also recorded and shared with staff.  3 
compliments were recorded for Children’s Social Care Services during the fourth 
quarter, a breakdown and examples of which can be found below.

“I feel I need to email you to comment how responsive the Social Worker has been 
today helping me resolve the ICS issues.  She has gone above and beyond to ensure 
the pathways are up to date and the placement plan can be completed so the young 
person can be placed next week…… I would be completely lost without her support 
today and feel she needs complimenting on her professionalism, her commitment and 
willingness to support a colleague in need.”

“Thank you for everything you have done for me, couldn't have done it without you, 
thank you so much.  The Personal Adviser really does mean a lot to me :)”  

“Today I attended an ICPCC and was extremely impressed with the way in which the 
Chair conducted the conference.   He was concise and to the point throughout, such 
that the conference did not run to an inordinate length of time.  I wish all the 
conferences I attended were as enjoyable an experience.”

Team/Service Area No. Compliment received from
Cared for Children 1 Young person
CwD Team 1 Professional
Safeguarding Unit 1 Professional

Page 86



Appendix 2

1

P
age 87



Appendix 2

2

P
age 88



Appendix 2

3

P
age 89



Appendix 2

4

P
age 90



Appendix 2

5

P
age 91



Appendix 2

6

P
age 92



  

Item 
No.

Item Action

1) Welcome, apologies & Introductions
EW welcomed everyone to the meeting. The list of attendees and apologies can be 
found above.

2) Previous Minutes from 01.02.2017 & Matters Arising
The previous minutes were discussed in terms of any changes that were felt 
necessary. It was agreed by all delegates that no changes were needed on page 1, 2 
and 3. 

Obesity Action Group

Minutes
From To

Date of Meeting: 15/03/2017 Time
10:00 12:00

Venue: Hollingworth C, Floor 1, N1R Training and Conference Suite

Name Initials
Attendees: Elizabeth Wilson – Public Health Specialist, Public Health & Wellbeing (chair)

Faisal Hussain – Administrative Assistant, Public Health & Wellbeing (Minutes)
Ann Howarth - Health & Wellbeing Manager. The Big Life Group
Ruth Bardsley – Public Health Programme Officer, Public Health & Wellbeing
Vanessa Macnae - Children’s Integrated Locality Health Manager, Pennine Care
Councillor Sameena Zaheer - Cabinet Member for Culture, Health and Wellbeing
Donna Stockton -  Children’s Centre Manager, Early Help School
Lisa Kimpton -  Public Health Programme Officer, Public Health & Wellbeing
Fiona Briggs -  Healthy Workplaces Co-ordinator, Link4Life
Adele Hoolahan -  Healthy Workplaces Co-ordinator, Link4Life
Sohida Banu -  Planning Officer, Planning RBC
Sue Astin -  Healthy School Programme Manager, Early Help Schools
Sarah Jayne Rushton -  Communications Officer, Information Communities
Nicola Lord – Senior Officer (Licensing), Public Protection
Councillor Janet Emsley -  Cabinet Member for Culture, Health & Wellbeing
Emily Parry Harries – Public Health Specialty Registrar, Public Health

EW
FH
AH
RB
VM
CSZ
DS
LK
FB

AHo
SB
SA

SJR
NL

CJE
EPH

Apologies: The list of apologies for this meeting consisted of Eileen Stringer, Shirley Waller, Beverley 
Wilkinson, Luisa Newton, Gail Hague, Jennifer Hopes and Helen Turner.

Page 93

Agenda Item 10



The minutes from the last meeting were then looked at in terms of all the actions.
Page 1 –

o It was clarified that FB has updated her presentation and it has been 
distributed however FB is still to find out how many staff members there are in 
the council

o AH will discuss the weight watchers advice material in her presentation in 
May/June

o EW has completed her action regarding local authority contracts relating to 
food with the guidance from page 9 of the OAG action plan

Page 2 - 
o FH completed all his actions
o ES is still to send out the policy on weight management for pregnant women to 

AH and HT
o Vitamins: EPH noted that this has been a pending topic for quite a while as 

there is awareness for infant feeding vitamins however uptake is low in the 
Borough and across Greater Manchester (GM), except where universal 
supplementation has been commissioned; VM questioned who would fund 
universal supplementation and EW replied that within the Borough uptake can 
only be encouraged as there is no appetite for universal supplementation.  
EPH to seek clarification from GM about whether universal supplementation is 
in the Locality Plan. 

o SJR updated everyone on the infographics School Governors Call to Action, in 
which she has created a draft that was distributed. DS asked why physical 
activity sessions are less important than Maths and English and SA answered 
because schools are rated on academic rates and achievements not obesity

o BW is still working on the street trading policy
o LK has completed all her actions regarding the Breastfeeding Welcome 

Scheme
o VM noted that Luisa has not fully taken on the breastfeeding/infant feeding 

workstream as yet.  It was highlighted that despite the removal of the Infant 
Feeding Co-ordinator post this workstream remains within the health visiting 
service specification.  

Page 3 – 
o GULP: LK met with Gemma Bickerstaff and Kelly Nicholl and established that 

rather than doing something new we should work with what we have; a theme 
day rather than a new program was favoured and also having a sugar smart 
status such as ‘you’re a sugar smart’ to get people involved

o EW had discussions with a school catering company and wants the sugar 
smart project to link with caters. 

o LK has distributed all the required materials
o EW thanked everyone for sending in what they feel are the top 5 actions for the 

Obesity Action Group 
o EW and SJR have met to confirm an obesity communication plan.

*RB arrived

Action: FB to find out how many staff members there are in the council.
ES to send out the policy on weight management for pregnant women to AH and 
HT.
EPH to seek clarification from GM about whether universal supplementation is 
in the Locality Plan.
LK is to develop an education resource pack on sugar reduction for schools.

FB
ES

EPH

LK

Page 94



3) North West Weight & Physical Activity Network Feedback
LK distributed the ‘Healthier Catering’ sheet out to all the attendees. The sheet 
contained a condensed version of all the information from the Public Health England 
North West Weight & Physical Activity Network meeting she attended. LK identified 
from the meeting that the size of sugary snack, the potion intake and the calories 
should be limited and condensed to a quantity of 330ml however the size of bottles 
used makes this hard to achieve.

Pricing Policies – this is becoming a very big issue. LK feels it would prove beneficial if 
food was actually cheaper than a chocolate bar or a packet of crisps. It was noted that 
there was a buy 1 get 1 free offer on coca cola in a hospital within GM.
Action: FH to distribute all the presentations from the North West Weight & 
Physical Activity Network meeting to the group on behalf of LK.

Salford Vending Machine – LK explained that there is a communication group which 
focuses on sugar. This group did a trial in a leisure centre with a vending machine 
replacing all sugary drinks with zero sugar drinks. When reports came back from the 
vending machine company it identified no significant changes in profit. EPH mentioned 
from an oral health perspective that acid erosion is caused by fresh fruit and diet 
drinks which can strip the enamel in teeth.

EW said that she would like to move the Sugar Action Plan forward. EPH added that 
she could talk to Salford about moving away from bottles and onto cans. Cans are the 
better of the 2 because with a can you drink it all at once as appose to a bottle where 
you can drink on demand; a bottle is worse because it re-introduces the body to sugar 
over a period whereas a can doesn’t do so. EW noted she believes it will be a good 
idea to pursue the Salford model with water in vending machines. 
Action: EPH and LK to pursue the Salford model with water in vending 
machines.

*CJE arrived

FH

EPH / LK

4) Obesity Action Update
 Infant Feeding / Weaning

VM provided the update on infant feeding/weaning on behalf of LN as her deputy for 
the meeting.
In regards to the breastfeeding scheme there is a live link on the council website which 
health visitors will promote. CJE added that promoting through the means of social 
media i.e. Facebook and Twitter can prove to be very beneficial and also an app could 
go very far.
Action: A Breastfeeding meeting is to take place between EW, LK and VM. 

EW feels that the work needs to continue developing volunteer breastfeeding peer 
supporters; RB added that now volunteers are leaving communication is falling. DS 
asked what the plan is now that volunteers have left and how are health visitors going 
to support volunteers in their day to day jobs. 
Action: VM to ask LN how health visitors are supporting volunteers in their day 
to day jobs in order to get the most accurate answer.

 Workplace Health (business) 
EW commented that the action plan is being updated and SW is to action the new 
plan. SW was not present at the meeting to provide her update.

EW

VM

Page 95



Workplace Health RBC 
A meeting with EW and colleagues from HR (Ann Harrison) took place. Ann is now 
scheduled to start working on the Health & Wellbeing Charter so that RBC is signed 
up. It is felt that this work will take 18 months to 2 years; EW plans to have the same 
contact with the CCG. 

 Oral Health Improvement
Page 6 of the action plan was referred to, in particular oral health improvements with 
early intervention and maternity/dental packs.

Babies’ having sweet drinks in a bottle is becoming an increasing problem. The entire 
group feel that milk and water should be the only drinks in a feeding cup and that 
feeding cups should also be free flowing as this would promote speech development. 
CJE queried how much free flowing cups cost, AH estimated about 90p and RB 
estimated round £1.30. DS feels that this message needs to keep being said 
otherwise it will be forgotten about; AH added that another 30 people will be giving this 
message soon as there is a new training programme which commences on the 1st 
April.

Kirkholt Pilot – A dental buddy scheme has been put in place with 3 schools in 
Kirkholt. A dentist has visited each school and provided children with a tooth brush 
and paste as well as advice on oral health and how to support children with access to 
better ways of looking after their teeth.

*AHo left

EW had a meeting with Michelle Loughin regarding a presentation, for the OAG 
meeting that takes place in roughly June time AH or another member of big life will be 
able to present a presentation on pathways. The presentation will include a living well 
scheme to promote a better lifestyle, community and higher employment.

5) A.O.B (Any Other Business)
CJE made all attendees aware that there will be an international Women’s day at KYP, 
laughter yoga will be held which she feels is very useful. CJE also noted that she met 
with a young man that wants to grow veg all over the borough and she feels this is 
very enthusiastic. 

CSZ spoke about an arm chair exercise class that she attends, she noted that tea, 
coffee and biscuits are always served but these could be replaced with chopped fruit 
and veg, if everyone chipped 50p in it could be possible. Transportation is also a big 
problem because due to the lack of it people are stuck in the house and she feels that 
new or more arm chair equipment is needed but CJE disagrees. CSZ noted that 
people do want to exercise but isn’t sure how to provide it and where, FB responded 
that Link4Life do promote lots of exercise groups.

*DS & NL left

SJR commented that she and LK attended a children’s championship last month and 
shared the cartoon characters regarding healthier eating at the event. CSZ asked if 
there is an app for people that don’t speak good English because with the likes of 
imported food it’s hard to tell the sugar amounts in fizzy drinks etc… LK replied that 
when reading the ingredients of any product if sugar is in the top 3 ingredient s it 
means that the sugar content is high. 

Page 96



6) Health, Schools and Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee
EW informed all the member of the group that the Health, Schools and Care Overview 
& Scrutiny Committee are to start receiving all the OAG Minutes for information 
proposes. This means that the minutes will be shared outside the group. EW asked if 
was acceptable to the group and all responded that this is fine.

7) Date of Next Meeting & Ending
The next Obesity Action Group Meeting will take place on Wednesday 17th May 2017 
from 14:00 – 16:00 at Number One Riverside on the 1st floor in a Training and 
Conference Suite.

EW thanked everyone for attending and closed the meeting.

Minutes completed by Faisal Hussain 15/03/2017

Page 97



GM behaviour change project – Proposal.
Goal of the project 
To shift the perception of parents in relation to their child’s weight status so that parents 
recognise overweight and obesity in their children and therefore are more likely to take 
action to ensure their children maintain a healthy weight.  

Description/outline of the proposed project 
The School Nursing Service measures the child’s height and weight at school as part of the 
National Child Measurement Programme. A letter is then generated by the Child Health 
Information System advising the parent whether their child is underweight, a healthy weight 
overweight or obese. Healthy lifestyle interventions are then offered to the family. 

We know that in Rochdale following the weighting and measuring of children (the National 
Child Measurement Programme) by the school nursing service referrals to and uptake of, 
healthy weight services are low. 

This behaviour change project will:
 support parents to understand better the significance of overweight and obesity in 

terms of its impact on physical and mental health
 enable parents to recognise the need for a family focused healthy lifestyle 

intervention 
 increase the uptake of healthy lifestyle services including; web based local and 

national resources, one to one and family Start Well services and Link4Life and 
related services

 motivate parents to make behaviour changes within the context of the wider family to 
support the achievement of a healthy weight and lifestyle 

 increase self-referrals to lifestyle and behaviour change services and information
 gather local insights on parent and children’s views of the child measurement 

programme communication and what would assist families at this point of 
communication

 have the potential to develop “Community Start Well Champions” – parents acting as 
an inspirational figure thereby driving community activity building on existing 
community skills. 

We would need to work with the two main providers to establish the baseline in terms of 
number of referrals, the range of services on offer and the exact uptake of these services. 
We would then aim to undertake the behavioural insight work to inform the changes to 
messages set out in the letter making them more acceptable to parents. Interventions will be 
developed which pay attention to the insights gained.

What specific behaviours do you need to change to achieve your policy goal 
We need to increase the number of parents who take action to address their children’s 
unhealthy weight by adopting healthy lifestyle behaviours within the family. Additionally, 
where needed, self-referring or accepting a referral to healthy lifestyle services. 

How are your target group currently behaving? 
Currently it has been said that a number of adults who recognise that their child is 
overweight or obese and therefore do not self-refer to weight management services and do 
not take up the services on offer. This is a view that we would want further insight to 
understand parental view to then influence the content and method of communicating with 
parents before and after the child measurement programme
 

Page 98



How significant is this challenge in your area and/or across GM? How many people 
are in the group whose behaviour you are trying to change?

 Obesity and overweight in children and young people in Rochdale is a significant 
problem. This project will contribute to the delivery of our Obesity Action Plan. This 
issue is also relevant at both a national level and across Greater Manchester. 

 Adults tend to under estimate their weight 
 Half of parents do not recognise that their children are overweight or obese
 The barriers to families adopting healthy lifestyle are similar across Greater 

Manchester therefore any insights gained into the factors which influence the 
perception of parents can be replicated across Greater Manchester.       

 In Rochdale the latest year’s NCMP results (2015/16) showed that Rochdale is 
generally around the GM average for excess weight; in Reception, 22.8% of pupils 
are defined as obese or overweight, whereas the GM average is 22.4%. In Year 6, 
these figures rise to 35.5% and 35.4% respectively.  

 Obesity in Reception Year rose from 9.2% in 2014/15 to 9.7% in 2015/16 (4th highest 
in GM).

 Overweight in Reception Year rose from 12.7% in 2014/15 to 13.0% in 2015/16 (4th 
highest in GM).

 Obesity in Year 6 rose from 20.3% in 2014/15 to 21.0% in 2015/16 (5th highest in 
GM).

 Overweight in Year 6 fell from 15.0% in 2014/15 to 14.5% in 2015/16 (5th lowest in 
GM).

 There is wide variation by geographical area and ethnic group and some of the 
differences are statistically significant.

The numbers of overweight and obese children and young people in Rochdale are set out 
below: 

 The number of children who are overweight at age 5 is 377
 The number of children who are overweight at age 11 is 382 
 The number of children who are obese at age 5 is 282
 The number of children who are obese at age 11 years is  551
 The estimated number of children and young people who are overweight and obese 

age 3 – 18 years 15,198. 

If the intervention changed 10 percent of people’s behaviour how big an impact would 
this have? Could any successful intervention be scaled up across GM?

 10% of the children aged 5 who are overweight and obese are 65.
 10% of the children who are overweight and obese age 11 is 93 
 10% of the estimated number of obese and overweight children and young people 

age 3 to 18 years is 1,520. 

Page 99



All 10%
 Age

Activity Cost Activity Cost
5 33 £42,910 3 £4,291

11 20 £30,119 2 £3,012Elective 
Admissions

03-18 487 £835,407 49 £83,541
5 59 £77,819 6 £7,782

11 18 £19,809 2 £1,981Non-Elective 
Admissions

03-18 645 £729,137 65 £72,914
5 48 £4,559 5 £456

11 12 £1,192 1 £119
A&E attendances 
related to above 

admissions 03-18 427 £39,587 43 £3,959
 
The table above shows the savings gained (based on data 2015/16) should the intervention 
change the behaviour of 10% of the cohort.  In the case of children age 5 and 11 the savings 
are £17,641. In the case of children and young people age 3-18 year the savings are 
£160,414.  

How can the behaviour change be measured? Which data would be used, where and 
how is it currently collected?
Impact of the project will be measured by the acceptability of the parent letter, the number of 
referrals to healthy lifestyle services, hits and comments on web based resources and the 
uptake of those services.   This data is provided by the Family and Community Prevention 
Service, Link4Life and school health.

Evaluation
We are committed to rigorously evaluating the intervention designed in the project to 
measure if it has been successful. 

Partners involved in the delivery of the project 
We will engage the provider of the integrated healthy lifestyle service the Family and 
Community Prevention Service, Link4Life, School Health as well as partners who refer 
clients to the service such as Children’s Centres and the health visiting service
The rationale for the proposed joint work is that these services are key to engaging parents 
in conversations about their child’s health and support families to adopt a healthy lifestyle 
and to take action to maintain a healthy weight.  

Day to Day contact
Elizabeth Wilson 
Public Health Specialist 
Tel: 01706 927071
elizabeth.wilson@rochdale.gov.uk 

Cash contribution
We are in a position to provide a cash contribution to the project to the value of £20,000. 

Page 100

mailto:elizabeth.wilson@rochdale.gov.uk


                              Obesity Action Plan 2016-2018       Updated April 2017 

1

Priority Objective Actions and Delivery  Responsibility By when Lead Team 

Weight management before, during and after pregnancy 
To ensure women 
are supported to 
achieve and 
maintain a healthy 
weight before, 
during and after 
pregnancy and to 
engage in 
appropriate 
exercise. 

To increase the 
number of women who 
maintain a healthy 
weight during 
pregnancy. 

Healthy weight in pregnancy policy 
and pathway in place. 

Provision of practical advice 
tailored to the individual needs of 
the woman and signposted to a 
range of healthy lifestyle options.

The benefits of starting or 
continuing moderate exercise 
explained to all pregnant women.  

Eileen Stinger
Karen Kenton  

March 2018 PAHT 
Maternity 
Service
HMR CCG. 

Infant feeding 
To increase the 
emphasis on 
improving 
breastfeeding 
initiation and 
maintenance 
rates.  

To increase the 
number of women who 
initiate and maintain 
breastfeeding.

Maintain Baby Friendly 
accreditation within PAHT and 
PCFT  

Ensure early years staff are trained 
to deliver key messages.

Develop the community 
breastfeeding peer support 
(Volunteer) scheme.

Expand the Breastfeeding 
Welcome Scheme to include a 
greater range of food 
establishments and businesses. 
(Locality Plan).

Eileen Stringer 
/Louisa Newton.
 

Gail Hague 

Louisa Newton

Lisa 
Kimpton/Louisa 
Newton 

June 2017 and 
ongoing 

PAHT 
Maternity 
services 
PCFT healthy 
visiting service
Children’s 
centres
Public Health.

To promote To increase the Ensure that nursery nurses and Eileen Stringer/ September 2017 PAHT 

P
age 101



                              Obesity Action Plan 2016-2018       Updated April 2017 

2

appropriate 
weaning and 
promote the 
uptake of Healthy 
Start vitamins.

number of babies who 
are weaned 
appropriately and  
increase significantly 
the uptake of Healthy 
Start vitamins/fruit and 
vegetables.  

Children’s Centre staff use the C4L 
introducing solid foods (weaning). 

Adopt a whole-family approach to 
support parents to provide 
appropriate family foods 
throughout childhood. 

Undertake a gap analysis in term 
of accessibility across the Borough 
of Heathy Start vitamins   

Develop a communication plan to 
promote Healthy Start. 

Increase the number of Healthy 
Start vitamins distribution points.

Louisa Newton / 
Gail Hague 

Sarah Jayne 
Rushton 

Maternity 
services 
PCFT healthy 
visiting service
Children’s 
centres

Early years prevention
To implement a 
programme to enable 
parents to understand 
the shift in the social 
norms of what 
constitutes healthy 
weight, overweight 
and obesity.

Ensure early years staff are trained 
to discuss what constitutes healthy 
weight with parents

Develop a communication plan to 
raise awareness amongst parents, 
early years settings of healthy 
weight  

Ann Howarth/
Gail Hague  

Sarah Jayne 
Rushton 

September 2017 Health visiting 
service 
Children’s 
centres  
Schools
School 
Governors 
Community 
and Family 
Prevention 
Service  
Communication 
Team 

To support 
parents in 
maintaining a 
healthy weight for 
their children in 
the early years. 

To embed early years 
active play into family 
life and practitioner 

To investigate the opportunities to 
deliver the GM Lets Play Project 
across the Borough

Community and 
Family Prevention 

June 2018 Community 
and Family 
Prevention 

P
age 102



                              Obesity Action Plan 2016-2018       Updated April 2017 

3

practice 
Early years staff to deliver 
consistent messages to parents 
about the importance of physical 
movement in the early years and 
physical activity within the wider 
family   

Service 

Link4Life

Health visiting 
service 

Service 

Link4Life
Health visiting 
service 
Children’s 
centres  
Schools 

School age children and families 
Redesign and enhance 
the family offer linked 
to the National child 
Measurement 
Programme. (Locality 
Plan).  

To ensure continued high uptake of 
the NCMP  

Review pathway - ensure a clear 
and robust pathway which will 
result in an increase in 
referrals/uptake to/of healthy 
weight services and the broad 
range of interventions on offer. 

Understand the offer and any gaps 
in provision.  

Provide a suite of support to 
children who are underweight, 
overweight and obese 

PCFT

Community and 
Family Prevention 
Service  

Link4Life

September 2017 School nursing 
service 
Community 
and Family 
Prevention 
Service  
Link4Life 
Schools 

To enhance work 
with schools to 
develop a whole 
school approach 
to healthy eating 
and physical 
activity.  

Implement the Whole 
School Food Policy 
across all schools in 
the Borough 

Provide healthy food choices 
throughout the school day

Ensure the content of the school 
curriculum and training of staff 
meets best practice guidance

Facilities 
Management  

September 2017 Schools
School 
Governors

P
age 103



                              Obesity Action Plan 2016-2018       Updated April 2017 

4

Provision of breakfast and national 
nutrition standards for school 
lunches 

Ensure provision of healthy 
tuckshops/vending machines and 
access to drinking water  

Monitor implementation and review 
progress 

To consider the 
implementation of the 
new voluntary healthy 
rating scheme for 
primary schools  

Develop implementation plan with 
individual schools

Evaluate impact

Sue Astin 

Head Teachers 

September 2017 Schools

Support the school 
games programme 

Progress implementation plan with 
individual school 

Julie Roberts December 2017 Schools
Link4Life 

To increase the uptake 
of the Daily Mile in 
schools across the 
Borough.

Promote Daily Mile to Head 
Teachers and school Governors  

Develop implementation plan with 
individual schools 

Identify school lead. 

Evaluate impact 

Sue Astin
Lisa Klimpton

June 2017 Schools
School 
Governors
Public Health 

To increase the uptake 
of the Daily Mile in 
early years settings 
and children’s centres 
across the Borough.

Promote Daily Toddle to providers 
of Early Years settings and 
Children’s Centre managers   

Develop implementation plan with 
individual schools 

Identify early years lead. 

Gail Hague 
Lisa Klimpton

May 2017 

June 2017

June 2017 and 
ongoing 

December 2017 

Early Years 
settings 
Children’s 
Centres

P
age 104



                              Obesity Action Plan 2016-2018       Updated April 2017 

5

Evaluate impact
Ensure adequate provision of appropriate healthy lifestyle services  

Extend the family offer 
for behaviour change 
ensuring that brief 
interventions are 
available to additional 
support is available to 
those who need it 
within the Community 
and Family Prevention 
Service. 

Issue tender 21.10.16 
Award end December
Service implementation Jan –
March 2017 
Monitor contract -ongoing

Wendy Meston
Adam Sutcliffe 

April 2017 Public Health 

Review joint working 
and the pathway to 
healthy lifestyle 
services for children 
and families, including 
children with 
disabilities, so that they 
receive a seamless, 
co-ordinated service 
across agencies.   

Gather evidence about which 
elements of the pathway is working 
well

Amend pathway and joint working 
to increase service utilisation
  
Raise awareness to front line staff 
and parents about the service on 
offer 

Ann 
Howarth/Louisa 
Newton/Gail 
Hague   

April 2017 Health visiting 
service 
School nursing 
service 
Community 
and Family 
Prevention 
Service  
Link4Life
Schools 

To maximise the 
opportunities for 
all children and 
adults to maintain 
a healthy lifestyle. 

Ensure that all 
children’s 
commissioning plans 
and service 
specifications include 
action on reducing 
obesity in children and 
young people. (Locality 
Plan).  

Review commissioning plans to 
ensure include action on obesity.

Ensure children’s service 
specifications include outcomes to 
reduce obesity. 

Elizabeth Wilson/ 
CCG

April 2017 and 
ongoing. 

Public Health
CCG 

Workplace health
To improve the 
health of staff in 
workplaces  

To increase the 
opportunities for RBC 
staff to make healthy 

Develop an action plan to 
implement the staff health and 
wellbeing policy 

Ann Harrison (HR 
Consultant)  

March 2018 HR/
Community 
and Family 

P
age 105



                              Obesity Action Plan 2016-2018       Updated April 2017 

6

choices
RBC to achieve the Workplace 
Wellbeing Charter

Ann Harrison (HR 
Consultant)  

December 2018
Prevention 
Service/
Link4Life

To increase the 
opportunities for staff in 
workplaces to make 
healthy choices and 
support employers 
across the Borough to 
improve the health of 
their staff. 

Develop a simplified version of the 
Workplace Wellbeing Charter for 
businesses  
 

 To deliver messages via 
workplaces (bearing in 
mind that a high proportion 
of workers will also be 
parents) focused on 
reducing obesity, healthy 
eating, increasing physical 
activity, stop smoking and 
healthy eating (reducing 
sugar and increasing fruit 
and vegetables)

Fiona Brigg July 2017 

April- September 
2017 

September 2017 

Link4Life

Council, NHS and 
partners to act as 
exemplars of good 
practice so that healthy 
eating options are 
available on every 
menu choice for 
internal and external 
catering that the 
council provides.   

Audit of current position

Develop action plan to include  
menus, vending machines and 
food/drink for staff meetings  

Evaluate progress and review 

PCFT
PAHT
Link4Life
RMC

March 2018 STAR 
Procurement 

Oral health improvement 

P
age 106



                              Obesity Action Plan 2016-2018       Updated April 2017 

7

To establish a 
postnatal oral health 
improvement 
intervention including 
breastfeeding, dental 
attendance and family 
fluoride toothpaste 
scheme. 

Midwives annual update in place

Distribute packs and deliver 
intervention 

Evaluate intervention  

Identify funding (if necessary) and 
mainstream initiative 

Ruth Bardsley October 2016
December 2016
January 2017
March 2017. 
April 2017 

To pilot, in Kirkholt, a 
community-based 
fluoride varnish and 
Dental Attendance 
programme and on 
completion negotiate 
with NHSE to roll out 
the scheme in 
Rochdale after 
evaluation.     

Deliver the GM school dental 
buddy scheme pilot.  

Support the evaluation of the GM 
pilot. 

Negotiate the roll out in Rochdale. 

Ruth Bardsley 

Sue Astin 

31st March

June 2017 

June – September 
2017. 

Support the 
epidemiological survey 
deep dive focusing on 
targeted areas 

Complete Dental Survey before 
end of school year for 5 yr olds.

Examine Results dmft following 
year

NHSE 
Ruth Bardsley

July 2017 

May 2018

To improve the 
oral health of 
children and 
families. (Locality 
Plan). 

Investigate the 
opportunities for water 
fluoridation with GM 
and wider partners. 

To gather information in order to 
establish the actions to date and 
the steps to implementation. 

To liaise with GM/PHE colleagues 
to understand the latest position, 

Wendy Meston 
Ruth Bardsley
Elizabeth Wilson
Portfolio Holders
GM Leads

October 2017

December 2017

Midwifery 
service 
Community 
and Family 
Prevention 
Service
NHSE
Schools 
PAHT
Town centre 
Management.
PHE 
GM Leads

 

P
age 107



                              Obesity Action Plan 2016-2018       Updated April 2017 

8

issues and opportunities

To present findings and gain steer 
from Portfolio Holder for Children 
and Portfolio Holder for Health and 
Wellbeing, DPH, Director of 
Children’s Services and Informal 
Cabinet.  

Increase the availability 
of free drinking water 
across the Borough. 

Investigate progress in other areas 
across GM

Map current provision across the 
borough 

Work with leisure services, 
Hospitals and Town Centre 
Management to increase the 
availability of free drinking water.

Ruth Bardsley June 2018

Cross cutting issues 

The Council and 
NHS to act as 
exemplars of good 
practice in the 
delivery of health 
promoting 
environments.

To advocate at a 
national level in line 
with the National 
Childhood Obesity 
Strategy to reduce 
obesity prevalence.   

To work with GM Obesity Leads to 
support areas of advocacy.

To investigate the feasibility of a 
GM piece of work advocating an 
improved healthy food offer within 
the boroughs large supermarkets.  

To raise awareness of our 
advocacy work and communicate 
this to stakeholders and the public.  

 

 
Elizabeth Wilson 

Ongoing Public Health 

P
age 108



                              Obesity Action Plan 2016-2018       Updated April 2017 

9

To become exemplar 
local employers 
(Council and HMR 
CCG) with regard to 
healthy workplaces in 
order to make it easier 
for staff to adopt 
healthier lifestyles 
leading to an 
improvement in the 
health of employees.  

To understand the gaps/barriers to 
staff in both organisations adopting 
healthier lifestyles

To sign up to the Workplace 
Wellbeing Charter 

To communicate progress to staff, 
partner agencies and the public

To review progress and monitor 
impact

Healthy Workplace 
Co-ordinator

 
Ann Harrison (HR 
Consultant) 

Ann Harrison (HR 
Consultant)

Ann Harrison (HR 
Consultant)

September 2018 HMR CCG
Human 
resources 
Staff Side 

To review the Street 
Trading policy to limit 
unhealthy food outlets

To investigate the level of 
operation of mobile traders (ice 
cream) outside of schools in the 
Borough 

To review the existing policy to 
include restricting mobile traders 
around schools in the Borough

Beverley 
Wilkinson

April 2017

September 2017

Public 
protection –
Licensing 

To review planning 
policy to limit unhealthy 
food outlets.

To halt and reduce the proliferation 
of fast food outlets in North 
Middleton, North Heywood and 
Milkstone and Deeplish. 

Mark Robinson April 2017 Planning 

Increase fruit and 
vegetable consumption 
in 
workplaces/employees.   

Implement a fresh fruit and 
vegetable scheme for staff based 
at Number One Riverside.

Promote schemes across all 
Council directorates. 

Evaluate effectiveness.  

Lisa Klimpton March 2017 Public Health

P
age 109



                              Obesity Action Plan 2016-2018       Updated April 2017 

10

Review community 
access to affordable 
healthy food.    

Map community provision 

Identify gaps

Investigate the opportunities to 
promote healthy eating messages 
within Foodbanks. 

Review allotment, food growing, 
gardening and green volunteering 
schemes 

Encourage an increase in 
community growing schemes

Evaluate the impact. 

Community 
services  
Estates and Asset 
Management.  

March 2018 Public Health 
Link4Life

Develop a programme 
and action plan to 
reduce levels of sugar 
intake to include the 
promotion of the 
Department of Health 
campaign to reduce 
sugar consumption. 
(Locality Plan).

Council and NHS to  adopt, 
implement and monitor the 
Government Buying Standards for 
food and catering services (GBSF) 

Ensure accredited training in 
healthy eating is delivered to those 
who have opportunities to influence 
food choices 

Provide practical steps to help 
residents lower their own and 
families sugar intake.

Develop associated 
communication project

Facilities 
Management 
Schools 
Community and 
Family Prevention 
Service  
Link4Life
Elizabeth Wilson

March 2018 Public Health 
Children’s 
centres and 
Early years 
settings 
Schools
School 
Governors 
Community

P
age 110



                              Obesity Action Plan 2016-2018       Updated April 2017 

11

To promote active 
engagement in  
Change4Life 

 
Ensure frontline and early years 
staff have adequate supplies of 
resources

Raise awareness of the 
Change4Life digital platforms 
available

Maximise impact of Change4 Life 
healthy lifestyle messages  
throughout the year   

Gail Hague 
Fiona Fogarty
Claire Taylor
Community and 
Family Prevention 
Service  

March 2018 Public Health 
Children’s 
centres and 
Early years 
settings 

Schools
Community 

To ensure that front 
line staff communicate 
consistent messages 
to residents about the 
importance of physical 
activity as part of a 
healthy lifestyle.  

Embed physical activity messages 
into Making Every Contact Count.

Ensure training is provided to early 
years and children’s services front 
line staff on the key physical 
activity messages, the 
interventions on offer and how 
residents can access these 
physical activity opportunities.  

 

To maximise the 
opportunities for 
adults and families 
to maintain a 
healthy weight by 
eating healthily 
and making 
physical activity 
the expectation or 
social norm. 

Promote an active 
lifestyle by promoting 
the 
#GMMoving and 
#GetRocMoving 
campaigns. 

Frontline staff to be aware of the 
initiative and promote to adults and 
families.  

Link4Life

Community and 
Family Prevention 
Service  

June 2017 Public Health 
Children’s 
centres and 
Early years 
settings 
Schools
Community 

P
age 111



                              Obesity Action Plan 2016-2018       Updated April 2017 

12

To take every 
opportunity to bid for 
external funding (e.g. 
Sport England) to 
increase the 
opportunities for 
increasing physical 
activity available to 
residents.    

Explore opportunities for funding 
and bid in partnership with key 
stakeholders  

Link4Life

Public Health 

March 2018 Link4Life

Develop and shape the 
built environment to 
promote the use of 
parks and other 
outdoor spaces, 
increasing cycling and 
walking and 
encouraging 
engagement in 
physical activity. 

Extend and improve the cycling 
route network across the Borough  

Increase cycle park provision 
within the Borough including 
exploring the possibility of 
developing a cyclopark in the 
borough.  

Increase individual activity levels in 
particular walking  

Environmental 
Management  

Link4Life 

Community and 
Family Prevention 
Service  

March 2018 Link4Life

To increase the 
number of residents 
who are able to swim 
and use swimming as 
a regular form of 
exercise.   

To implement the Borough 
Aquatics Strategy. 

Link4Life March 2018 Link4Life 

To increase 
community and 
voluntary group action 
in order to expand the 
provision of small 
scale healthy eating 
projects including 
community cooking 

Map provision across the borough

Link with volunteering networks 
across the borough to promote 
healthy eating projects as a 
worthwhile activity

Ensure providers of cooking skills 

Community 
Services.
Children’s centres 
Youth Service
Community and 
Family Prevention 
Service  

December 2017 Public health 

P
age 112



                              Obesity Action Plan 2016-2018       Updated April 2017 

13

skills. are appropriately trained 

P
age 113



Page | 1  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Data Pack 
The National Child Measurement 
Programme - Rochdale Borough 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 114

http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=&url=http://logos.wikia.com/wiki/File:Rochdale_Borough_Council.svg&psig=AFQjCNHpbQDeYsJtWQ0xTBgcsX5v6I3wsA&ust=1496930967615020


Page | 2  

 

 

  

Page 115



Page | 3  

 

Background 

The National Child Measurement Programme (NCMP) involves the annual measurement of the height and weight of 
children in Reception Year and Year 6, and the return of the data to the Health and Social Care Information Centre 
(HSCIC).  

The programme has two key purposes:  

1. to provide robust public health surveillance data on child weight status, to understand obesity and overweight 
prevalence and trends at local and national levels, to inform obesity planning and commissioning and underpin the 
Public Health Outcomes Framework indicator on excess weight in 4-5 and 10-11 year olds  

2. to provide parents with feedback on their child’s weight status: to help them understand their child’s health 
status, support and encourage behaviour change and provide a mechanism for direct engagement with families with 
overweight, underweight and obese children.  

As a mandated public health programme, the NCMP is funded from the ring-fenced public health grant for local 
authorities. 

 

Overview 

The latest year’s NCMP results (2015/16) were published in December 2016.  These showed that Rochdale is 
generally around the GM average for excess weight; in Reception, 22.8% of pupils are defined as obese or 
overweight, whereas the GM average is 22.4%. In Year 6, these figures rise to 35.5% and 35.4% respectively.  The 
main headlines from the data are as follows:  

 Obesity in Reception Year rose from 9.2% in 2014/15 to 9.7% in 2015/16 (4th highest in GM). 

 Overweight in Reception Year rose from 12.7% in 2014/15 to 13.0% in 2015/16 (4th highest in GM). 

 Obesity in Year 6 rose from 20.3% in 2014/15 to 21.0% in 2015/16 (5th highest in GM). 

 Overweight in Year 6 fell from 15.0% in 2014/15 to 14.5% in 2015/16 (5th lowest in GM). 

 There is wide variation by geographical area and ethnic group and some of the differences are statistically 
significant. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 116



Page | 4  

 

Fig 1 Trend Changes Between 2014/15 and 2015/16 

 

 

Trends over Time 

The following charts illustrate the trends over recent years. Obesity in Reception Year has fallen unevenly since 
2006/07, whilst Year 6 Obesity has generally risen. Rates for both age groups for Rochdale are slightly above the 
England average currently. 

The prevalence of overweight children varies more greatly, although for both age groups the rates are very close to 
the England average. 

It must be noted that changes in the rates over time in Rochdale Borough are not statistically significant. 

Fig 2 Obesity Trends: Reception and Year 6 Compared with England 

 

Page 117



Page | 5  

 

Fig 3 Overweight Trends: Reception and Year 6 Compared with England 

 

Participation rates were 95.7% in Reception (up from 91.0%) and 96.3% in Year 6 (down from 98.0%). These are 
largely in line with the average participation rates over time. They are above the England averages of 95.6% in 
Reception and 94.0% in Year 6. 

 

Geographical Variation within Rochdale 

It is generally difficult to ascertain patterns of high excess weight within the borough as it tends not to correlate with 
areas of high deprivation as is common with other health outcomes.  However, by pooling the most recent 6 years’ 
worth of data, we can highlight those wards where excess weight appears to be high.  This at least will smooth out 
any year-on-year fluctuations caused by low numbers. 

Fig 4 Obesity in Reception by Geography 

 

Page 118



Page | 6  

 

 

The above chart shows obesity levels in Reception Year: the highest ward (Hopwood Hall) is not especially deprived, 
although the 2 least deprived wards (Norden and Bamford) have amongst the lowest levels. The 3 wards with the 
lowest rates of obesity have significantly different values to the wards with the highest rates. 

Fig 5 Overweight in Reception by Geography 

 

When we look at data for overweight pupils in Reception, again the wards with the lowest rates are significantly 
different to those with the highest rates. Balderstone and Kirkholt is again amongst the highest, whilst Norden is 4th 
lowest. Central Rochdale and Milkstone and Deeplish (high deprivation) have low rates, whilst East Middleton has 
the highest rate for overweight pupils but is only average for obese pupils. 

Fig 6 Obesity in Year 6 by Geography 

 

Page 119



Page | 7  

 

 

In Year 6, the wards with the 3 highest rates have worsened considerably from their position in Reception and have 
significant levels of deprivation, whilst Healey has fallen from the 5th highest in Reception to the 2nd lowest in Year 6. 
The differences between the wards with the highest and lowest rates are again statistically significant.  

Fig 7 Overweight in Year 6 by Geography 

 

 

In Year 6, South Middleton and North Heywood are once again high together with Spotland and Falinge and 
Milkstone and Deeplish, both relatively deprived areas. The deprived area of West Middleton has the lowest rate by 
some margin and this is significantly different to the two highest wards. 

The same variation in obesity by ward can be represented geographically on the following maps:  

Map 1 Percentage of Reception Year Children Who Are Obese 

 

Page 120



Page | 8  

 

Map 2 Percentage of Year 6 Children Who Are Obese 

 

 

The Influence of Deprivation 

Examination of childhood obesity data in the past has found that levels of deprivation in general do not have a 
significant impact upon levels of excess weight in the population. The ward data above tends to support this, 
however it is worth while looking at deprivation data more closely by stratifying the Borough population into the 
national deciles (or tenths) based on the Indices of Deprivation 2015. The following charts illustrate levels of obesity 
for each decile.  

Fig 8 Obesity in Reception by Deprivation Group 

 

Page 121



Page | 9  

 

Fig 9 Obesity in Year 6 by Deprivation 

 

The data for 2014/15 and 2015/16 was stratified into deciles (or tenths) of deprivation based on the Index of 
Multiple Deprivation 2015 score for the LSOA in which each pupil lived. As Rochdale is a relatively deprived area, and 
population density is greater in more deprived areas, greater numbers of pupils live in the more deprived deciles (1 
is worst, 10 is best). The percentage obese for each decile was calculated and confidence intervals applied and these 
are shown in the chart. As the data is a sample, the ‘true’ value is calculated through using confidence intervals and 
these indicate the range within which the ‘true’ value lies. In Reception Year, Decile 5 has significantly lower rates of 
obesity than those for Deciles 1 and 3. In Year 6, Decile 1 has a significantly higher rate than Decile 10. This implies 
that there is a slight relationship between deprivation and obesity in the Borough. 

Nationally there is a strong positive relationship between deprivation and the prevalence of obesity in both 
Reception and Year 6 (this is also the case for underweight children). This is clearly illustrated in the charts below, 
which show that this positive relationship is statistically significant. 

Fig 10 Obesity in Reception by Deprivation Group – England 

 

Page 122



Page | 10  

 

Fig 11 Obesity in Year 6 by Deprivation Group – England 

 

 

Ethnicity 

Rates of obesity do vary between ethnic groups, with white children generally having lower levels of obesity than 
BME groups.  This is true for both Reception and Year 6 pupils, although of course the numbers of pupils from BME 
groups are a lot fewer than for the white population, the result being greater fluctuations in the rates. The rates for 
Chinese pupils are based on very low numbers. The following charts demonstrate these differences, however the 
confidence intervals show that the only statistically significant difference is between White and Asian pupils in Year 
6. 

Fig 12 Obesity in Reception by Ethnicity 

 

Page 123



Page | 11  

 

Fig 13 Obesity in Year 6 by Ethnicity 

 

 

Comparison with Peers 

The following charts compare Rochdale Borough with other districts in Greater Manchester; it is above the England 
average for Obesity levels in Reception and Year 6, but is lower than the North West average in Reception. It is above 
the North West average in Year 6.  A comparison with Walsall is also included as this is most often used as a peer 
comparator council; Rochdale has obesity levels well below Walsall in both Reception and Year 6. 

 

Fig 14 Obesity in Reception by Comparator Boroughs 

 

Page 124



Page | 12  

 

Fig 15 Obesity in Year 6 by Comparator Boroughs 

 

 

 

How is the NCMP data used? 

The data is used and fed into the JSNA to make strategic planning and commissioning decisions for children who are 
overweight, obese and underweight.  There is a multi-agency obesity action group in existence that ensures that 
there is a programme of work in place which addresses child malnourishment and obesity.   

Data is routinely fed back to parents and the NCMP process links parents into nutrition and physical activity services 
for those children who are overweight and obese.   

Data is available to schools with comparisons to local, regional and national averages to help them tailor their 
Healthy Schools activities around healthy weight. 

 

For further information regarding the data please contact: 

Richard Pinkney, Public Health Intelligence Analyst (01706 927080) 

 

Page 125



Page 126

Agenda Item 12



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Document is Restricted

Page 132

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 156

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 234

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	6 School Admissions and the Allocation of School Places 2017
	report for Scrutiny July 2017 version 4
	Preference demand met
	Sheet1

	Primary Preference Demand Met
	Sheet1

	APPENDIX C cover
	Final  OSA LA Report  2017

	7 Link4Life Annual Performance Review 2016/17
	Append. 1 for Link4Life Annual Performance Review 2016-17

	8 Healthwatch Rochdale - Annual Report 2016/17
	9 4th Quarter Social Care Complaints
	Append. 1 for 4th Quarter Social Care Complaints
	Append. 2 for 4th Quarter Social Care Complaints

	10 Obesity Action Group
	OAG App 1 -GM Behaviour Change Programme
	OAG App2 - Obesity Action Plan
	NCMP Report

	12 Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee for Pennine Acute Hospitals NHS Trust
	14 ACT and Sunrise
	ACT info
	O and S ACT July


